## European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 189 (2020) 112063

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/ejmech



# Natural heat shock protein 90 inhibitors in cancer and inflammation

Thadeu E.M.M. Costa <sup>a, b</sup>, Nulgumnalli Manjunathaiah Raghavendra <sup>a, c</sup>, Carmen Penido <sup>a, b, \*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Center for Technological Development in Health (CDTS), Oswaldo Cruz Foundation, Rio de Janeiro, 21040-361, Brazil
<sup>b</sup> Laboratory of Applied Pharmacology, Institute of Drug Technology, Farmanguinhos, 21041-250, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
<sup>c</sup> Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Acharya and BM Reddy College of Pharmacy, Bengaluru, 560090, India

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 31 July 2019 Received in revised form 9 January 2020 Accepted 10 January 2020 Available online 11 January 2020

*Keywords:* Natural products HSP90 Cancer Inflammation

# ABSTRACT

Heat shock protein (HSP)90 is the most abundant HSPs, which are chaperone molecules whose major roles are cell protection and maintenance by means of aiding the folding, the stabilization and the remodeling of a wide range of proteins. A few hundreds of proteins depend on HSP90 chaperone activity, including kinases and transcriptional factors that play essential roles in cancer and inflammation, so that HSP90-targeted therapies have been considered as a potential strategy for the treatment of cancer and inflammatory-associated diseases. HSP90 inhibition by natural, semi-synthetic and synthetic compounds have yield promising results in pre-clinical studies and clinical trials for different types of cancers and inflammation. Natural products are a huge source of biologically active compounds widely used in drug development due to the great diversity of their metabolites which are capable to modulate several protein functions. HSP90 inhibitors have been isolated from bacteria, fungi and vegetal species. These natural compounds have a noteworthy ability to modulate HSP90 activity as well as serve as scaffolds for the development of novel synthetic or semi-synthetic inhibitors. Over a hundred clinical trials have evaluated the effect of HSP90 inhibitors as adjuvant treatment against different types of tumors and, currently, new studies are being developed to gain sight on novel promising and more effective approaches for cancer treatment. In this review, we present the naturally occurring HSP90 inhibitors and analogues, discussing their anti-cancer and anti-inflammatory effects.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier Masson SAS.

## Contents

1.	Introduction							
	1.1. Modulation of HSPs in cancer							
	1.2.	Modula	ulation of HSPs in inflammation					
2.	Natur	al inhibi	ibitors of HSP90					
	2.1.	2.1. N-terminal domain binders						
		2.1.1.	Ansamycins	.4				
		2.1.2.	Radicicol and pochonins	. 8				
		2.1.3.	Geraniin	. 8				
		2.1.4.	Gambogic acid	. 8				
		2.1.5.	Panaxynol	. 8				
		2.1.6.	Deguelin	. 9				
		2.1.7.	Hereronemin	. 9				

\* Corresponding author. Laboratory of Applied Pharmacology, Institute of Drug Technology, Farmanguinhos, Rua Sizenando Nabuco 100, Manguinhos, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, CEP 21041-250, Brazil.







*E-mail addresses:* thadeu.costa@cdts.fiocruz.br (T.E.M.M. Costa), raghavendranm@acharya.ac.in (N.M. Raghavendra), carmen.penido@cdts.fiocruz. br, cpenido@gmail.com (C. Penido).

		2.1.8.	C9-type iridoids	9			
	2.2.	Middle	-domain binders	9			
		2.2.1.	Lentiginosine	9			
		2.2.2.	Kongensin A	9			
		2.2.3.	Sansalvamide	9			
	2.3.	C-term	inal domain binders	9			
		2.3.1.	Coumarin antibiotics	9			
		2.3.2.	Derrubone	. 10			
		2.3.3.	Epigallocathechin	. 10			
		2.3.4.	Fusicoccane diterpenes	. 10			
	2.4.	Co-cha	perone binders	. 10			
		2.4.1.	Withaferin A	. 10			
		2.4.2.	Cucurtabicin D	. 10			
		2.4.3.	Celastrol	. 11			
		2.4.4.	Gedunin	. 11			
3.	Concl	usion		11			
	Decla	ration of	f competing interest	. 11			
	Ackno	Acknowledgements					
	Suppl	Supplementary data					
	Refere	ences		. 12			

# 1. Introduction

Heat shock proteins (HSP) are constitutive and inducible chaperone molecules triggered by the heat shock transcription factor-1 (HSF-1), whose major roles are cell protection against damage and maintenance of vital cellular functions by means of aiding the folding, the stabilization and the remodeling of a wide range of nascent and non-native proteins, referred to as "client proteins" [1,2]. The 90 kDa HSP (HSP90) is the most abundant chaperone that is predominantly active within an intracellular multiprotein complex that includes chaperones, co-chaperones and adaptor proteins, called the HSP90 chaperone machinery. This complex undergoes dynamic conformational cycle during processing of client proteins, which is initiated by the binding of the chaperone HSP70 that, aided by HSP40, plays a central role in the delivery of client proteins to the open state of HSP90 [1]. The co-chaperone HOP [HSP70/ HSP90 organizing protein] binds to both chaperones and helps to stabilize the open conformation of HSP90, in order to receive client proteins. Further, while the HSP90 co-chaperone Cdc37 (cell division cycle 37) prevents the closure of the complex, Aha1 (activator of HSP90 ATPase homologue 1) initiates the formation of the closed state, which is stabilized by the p23 cochaperone [3]. Detailed information about HSP90 chaperone machinery can be found in Schopf et al. [2].

Different isoforms of HSP90 have different subcellular localizations. HSP90 $\alpha$  and HSP90 $\beta$  isoforms are expressed in the cytoplasm, HSP90 $\beta$  in the nucleus, TRAP1 within the mitochondria, and GRP94/Gp96 in the endoplasmic reticulum. Even though most of HSP90 are localized intracellularly, some can be expressed on cell membranes or, even, be released to extracellular milieu (eHSP90) in response to stress stimuli by active secretion or as a result of cell necrosis [4,5]. Approximately 400 client proteins depend on HSP90 chaperone activity, including kinases and transcriptional factors [6] (For an updated list of HSP90 interactors, see Picard's website [https://www.picard.ch/downloads/Hsp90interactors.pdf]).

Several of these client proteins play essential roles in cancer and inflammatory diseases. Indeed, tumor cells depend on intracellular HSP90 activity to survive and proliferate, since the overexpression of this chaperone supports their high metabolism. Similarly, proteins involved in inflammatory pathways depend on HSP90 chaperone activity, supporting HSP90 as a cornerstone for cancer and inflammatory-associated diseases. Hence, HSP90-targeted therapies have been considered a potential strategy for treating these conditions. Even though there is no current HSP90-targeted drug approved for clinical use, promising results obtained in pre-clinical studies are paving the way to the evaluation of HSP90 inhibitors in clinical trials for several types of cancers (www.clinical trials.gov).

The first HSP90 inhibitor described, geldanamycin, was isolated from the bacteria *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* [7], and it is currently known that naturally occurring HSP90 inhibitors can be produced by bacteria, fungi and vegetal species. These substances inhibit HSP90 activity by binding to different functional regions of the chaperone, as well as by binding to its co-chaperones, impairing the proper activation of the HSP90 machinery [3]. Biologically active compounds obtained from natural products have been widely used in drug development and medicine [8]. HSP90 natural inhibitors, such as geldanamycin, have served as scaffolds for novel synthetic or semi-synthetic entities with reduced unwanted adverse effects and improved efficacy [9,10], including 17-AAG, the first HSP90 inhibitor that entered a clinical trial [11].

On the basis of the aforementioned *i*) central role of HSP90 in the regulation of cellular proteins, *ii*) biological effects of natural products, and *iii*) the growing number of reports on new identified natural HSP90 inhibitors, in this review we present the current knowledge on the natural compounds that inhibit HSP90 activity and its effects on cancer and inflammation.

# 1.1. Modulation of HSPs in cancer

Tumor cells highly depend on the activity of oncogenes to survive, which has been designated as "oncogene addiction" [12]. Several proteins involved in oncogenic processes are HSP90 client proteins, including the human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2/neu), B-rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma homologue B (B-Raf), tyrosine-protein kinase Src (Src), protein kinase B (AKT/PKB), breakpoint cluster region/Abelson murine leukemia virus (BCR/ABL), tumor protein 53 (P53) and octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (OCT4) [2,13]. Considering that HSP90 chaperone activity is essential for oncoprotein maturation and for the maintenance of the high rates of protein synthesis and metabolism (required for tumor cell high rates of proliferation, cytoskeletal organization and cell motility), HSP90 activity is essential for tumor development.

Indeed, HSP90 is overexpressed in tumor and serum of patients with a variety of cancer types, such as those of the breast, skin, blood, colon, prostate, lung, pancreas and liver. Moreover, HSP90 expression positively correlates with tumor malignancy and poor prognosis [14–24].

Extracellular HSP90 also favors tumor development. The interaction of extracellular HSP90 with matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 disrupts extracellular matrix and contributes to invasiveness and metastasis of different tumor types, including breast cancer, melanoma, fibrosarcoma and anaplastic lymphoma [22,25-29]. In addition, HSP90 promotes actin re-arrangement and cell migration by binding to the extracellular domain of tumor cell receptors HER2/ErbB2 and, consequently, inducing downstream signaling kinases such as phosphatidylinositol (PI) 3-kinase-AKT, MEK and ERK [5]. HSP90 also binds to low density lipoprotein receptor 1 (LRP1)/CD91, triggering the activation of AKT and NFkB, consequently promoting lamellipodia formation, increased integrin expression and cell migration of glioblastoma and colon cancer cells [30,31]. The binding of HSP90 to CD91 has also been shown in prostate tumor cells, which leads to ERK activation and contributes to cell migration [32]. In addition, HSP90 binding to TLR4 expressed on glioblastoma transactivates epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)/ErbB1 and also triggers cell mobility [33] (Fig. 1).

HSP90 machinery has been increasingly considered as a potential target for cancer treatment, since HSP90 simultaneously modulates multiple pathways, implicating in all the hallmarks of cancer (including proliferation, invasion, metastasis, angiogenesis and resistance to apoptosis) [34]. Promising pre-clinical data have been obtained with HSP90 inhibitors from both natural and synthetic sources in innumerous types of tumor cells and in animal models, such as lymphoma, melanoma, glioblastoma, breast, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, thyroid, colon and lung cancer [35-42]. Ansamycins, N-terminal binding HSP90 inhibitors from natural origin, were the first evaluated on clinical trials in 1999 in patients with unspecific solid tumors (www.clinicaltrials.gov; identifier NCT00003969). Since then, the range of cancer types included in clinical trials with HSP90 inhibitors from natural, semi-synthetic and synthetic origin has been increasing. Worthy of note, HSP90 inhibitors are less likely to induce resistance, as commonly observed with the use of chemotherapic agents that target individual proteins [43]. Prevention of resistance to HSP90 inhibitors is believed to result from the high dependence of tumor cells on HSP90 chaperone activity combined to the fact that the inhibition of HSP90 affects multiple targets and pathways.

Considering the fact that HSP90 is essential and abundantly expressed by normal cells, a major concern would be the selectivity of HSP90 inhibitors. However, there are some unique characteristics that make HSP90 inhibitors to preferentially target HSP90 expressed by tumor cells. In tumors, HSP90 is presented in tightly integrated multichaperone complexes (also called "chaperome complexes" or "epichaperome") that have around 100-fold higher affinity for HSP90 inhibitors than the HSP90 expressed by non-tumor cells [3,44,45]. Consequently, HSP90 inhibitors accumulate for longer periods in tumors, whereas they are rapidly cleared from normal tissues [46,47]. The high affinity of tumoral HSP90 for inhibitors combined with the "oncogene addition" warrants the selective disruption of malignant cell cycle, supporting the high potential of HSP90 inhibitors in anti-cancer therapy.

# 1.2. Modulation of HSPs in inflammation

Besides the anti-tumor effect of HSP90 inhibitors, compelling data indicate that HSP90 modulation also reduces inflammation. To date, the study of anti-inflammatory effects of HSP90 inhibitors are restricted to preclinical research. *In vivo* experiments demonstrated that HSP90 inhibition negatively modulates the inflammatory response associated to allergy [48], arthritis [49,50], gastric ulceration [51], colitis [52], uveitis [53], atherosclerosis [54], lung inflammation [55] and sepsis [56], among others. The basic anti-inflammatory mechanism of HSP90 inhibitors relies in the impairment of NF $\kappa$ B activation, inhibition of inflammatory mediators and increased expression of HSP70. HSP90 activity also contributes to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. For example, HSP90 mediates the aggregation of amyloid- $\beta$  and of phosphorylated tau, which are major features of Alzheimer's disease [57–59]. The aggregation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and the resulting citotoxicity, hallmarks of Pakinson's disease, also depends on HSP90 chaperone activity [60]. HSP90 inhibition prevents  $\alpha$ -synuclein assembly, upregulates HSP70 expression and reduces  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced toxicity [60,61].

Several HSP90 client proteins are key signaling factors involved in inflammation, including transcription factors (such as NFkB and signal transducer and activator of transcription [STAT]), kinases (such as mitogen-activated protein kinases [MAPK], ERK, AKT, PI3K, p38) and the pattern recognition receptors TLR 9, TLR3 and TLR4/ MD-2. The inhibition of HSP90 chaperone activity results in the arrest of inflammation; however, the anti-inflammatory effect of HSP90 inhibitors also results from the induction of HSF1 activation and consequent induction of HSP70 expression. Unlike in cancer, in inflammatory conditions, the induction of HSP70 is a desired effect of the HSP90 inhibitors. The HSP70 anti-inflammatory actions have been demonstrated in different experimental models, including sepsis [62], arthritis [63] and colitis [64] by inhibiting NFkB activation and inducing IL-10 production [62,63,65–70] (Fig. 2).

There is still much to be learned about the anti-inflammatory effects of HSP inhibitors; however, the available data strongly demonstrate promising effects. Inasmuch, given the recognized role of chronic inflammation in cancer development, the dual role of HSP90 inhibitors as anti-inflammatory and anti-tumor represents a promising therapeutic approach to the treatment of cancer and inflammatory diseases.

## 2. Natural inhibitors of HSP90

Natural products comprise a plethora of biologically active compounds that have been used with different applicability in medicine. Great part of current marketed drugs is derived from natural products, and approximately one third of new molecular entities approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) are derived from natural sources [8,71]. Natural HSP90 inhibitors have been isolated from fungi, bacteria and vegetal species. Off-target toxicity is one of the worst limitations of natural HSP90 inhibitors, and, therefore, they have predominantly served as scaffolds for the development of the current synthetic or semisynthetic HSP90 inhibitors with reduced unwanted adverse effects and improved efficacy. A remarkable example is the naturally occurring geldanamycin, the first HSP90 inhibitor described, which served as a prototype for more efficacious and safer antitumor drug analogues that have advanced to clinical trials [7,72] indicated in Table 1.

There are different mechanisms by which HSP90 inhibitors impair HSP90 activity. Most natural inhibitors modulate HSP90 activity by blocking ATP binding site in N-terminal domain and impairing ATPase activity, which is required for HSP90 effect. Other inhibitors bind to ATP binding site in C-terminal domain, and some bind to co-chaperones, impairing the formation of the functional HSP90 multimeric complex and, thus, indirectly blocking the HSP90 conformational cycle.

Even though the anti-tumor effect of N-terminal binders is well established, an undesirable side effect concerns the upregulation of



**Fig. 1. HSP90 effect on tumor promotion.** (1) Extracellular HSP90 complexes with MMP-2 and MMP-9, enhancing metalloproteinase activity, disrupting extracellular matrix (ECM), and facilitating invasion and metastasis. Surface HSP90 interacts with (2) LRP1/CD91 and (3) HER2, inducing ERK, PI3kinase, AKT and NFkB activation, promoting actin rearrangement, lamellipodia formation and enhanced motility. (4) HSP90 interacts with TLR4 and transactivates epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) to promote cell migration. LRP1/CD91: low density lipoprotein receptor 1/cluster of differentiation 91; MMP: metalloproteinase; TLR4: toll-like receptor 4; VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor.

HSP70 due to increased heat shock response via HSF1 activation, which favors tumorigenesis [73–75]. Increased heat shock response correlates with resistance and poor prognosis [76,77]. In this sense, the combined inhibition of HSP90 and HSP70 has been proposed as an alternative to overcome the effects of HSP70 expression in cancer [78–80]. Other alternative is the silencing of SIRT, a histone deacetylase required for the activation of HSF1 [37]. A third option is targeting either the HSP90 C-terminal domain (e.g. novobiocin) or the co-chaperones (e.g. gedunin), which do not induce heat shock response [81–85]. Binding to co-chaperones has an additional benefit, which is the sensitizing of tumor cells to HSP90 inhibition [83,86]. On the other hand, in the context of cancer defense, membrane bound and extracellular HSPs can be



Fig. 2. HSP90 inhibition on inflammation. (1) HSP90 inhibitors bind to HSP90, displacing HSF-1 (Heat Shock Factor-1), which translocates into the nucleus and initiates HSP70 translation. (2) Inhibition of HSP90 impairs NF $\kappa$ B nuclear translocation and binding to DNA. NF $\kappa$ B: nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B; DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid.

beneficial to the host by inducing anti-tumor immune responses. Surface HSP70 can upregulate antigen presentation by antigen presenting cells (APC) and augment recognition of tumor cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes, leading to enhanced killing. Chaperokine activity of extracellular HSPs stimulates immune cells to produce cytokines, which can result in protection against tumors and serves as a tool for HSP-based anti-cancer immunotherapy [87–89].

Another undesirable effect related to the induction of heat shock response by compounds that bind to N-terminal domain is the propensity to develop resistance. It is proposed that resistance can be avoided by the use of HSP90 inhibitors that selectively bind to co-chaperones and, therefore, fairly induce heat shock response. Other way to overcome the development of resistance is through combination therapies using HSP90 inhibitors and anti-tumor chemotherapeutics, claimed to be more promising, since it employs a combination of drugs with different targets [43]. Examples of combination therapies evaluated in clinical trials include ganetespib (a second generation resorcinol-triazole HSP90 inhibitor) with docetaxel [90], and tanespimycin (IPI504, geldanamycin analog) with trastuzumab [91]. In spite of the promising results obtained in clinical trials, some N-terminal HSP90 inhibitors have induced undesirable side effects such as ocular toxicity and hepatotoxicity [92,93].

## 2.1. N-terminal domain binders

#### 2.1.1. Ansamycins

Ansamycins comprise a family of macrocyclic antibiotics that includes geldanamycin, herbimycins and macbecin. Geldanamycin is the most studied and has served as a prototype for natural productbased drug discovery in the last decades. Geldanamycin was discovered in 1970 in culture filtrates of the bacteria *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*, and inhibited the growth of bacteria, protozoa and fungi. Besides its antimicrobial activity, geldanamycin strongly inhibited the growth of human epithelial carcinoma and murine lymphocytic leukemia cells [7]. The first evidence that geldanamycin binds to HSP90 occurred in 1994 [94], but only in 1997 it was demonstrated that geldanamycin binds to the ATP binding site of the N-terminus of HSP90 [95]. Since then, several geldanamycin analogues have been developed aiming to improve efficacy and reduce toxicity, which results from a reactive quinone ring that forms a

Idvic	Table	1
-------	-------	---

Inhibitors of HSP90 from natural source.

N-TERMINAL BINDERS HSP90 Inhibitor Geldanamycin	Analogues 17-AAG 17-DMAG IPI-504 IP-493	Source Streptomyces hygroscopicus	Class Benzoquinone ansamycin	Structure
Machazin		Nocardia co	Ponyoquinono ancamucin	
Watbethi		Noturulu sp.		$H_2N \bigcirc 0 \qquad H_N \qquad 0 \qquad H_N \qquad 0 \qquad $
Herbimycin A		Streptomyces hygroscopicus	Benzoquinone ansamycin	
Radicicol (Monorden)	KF25706 KF58333	Monosporium bonorden	Macrocyclic lactone antibiotic	HO CI O H
Pochonin A	Pochoxime A Pochoxime B Pochoxime C	Pochonia chlamydosporia	Macrocyclic lactone antibiotic	
Geraniin (ellagitannin geraniin)		Geranium thunbergii	Tannin	
Gambogic Acid	NG-18	Garcinia hanburyi	Xanthonoid	
Panaxynol		Panax ginseng	Polyacetylene	

(continued on next page)





All chemical structures were drawn by Chemdraw 8.0 software.

semiquinone, releasing toxic superoxide radicals [96]. The antitumor effects of geldanamycin and its analogues have been largely demonstrated in *in vitro* and *in vivo* pre-clinical studies against different tumor types, such as colon adenocarcinoma, ovarian, breast cancer cells [97,98] and in xenograft model of prostate cancer [99,100]. Geldanamycin reduced the expression and activity of HER-2/ErbB2, inducing its ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation in tumor cells *in vitro*, as well as impaired subcutaneous growth of cells transfected with ErbB2 in nude mice [97,101,102]. The positive outcomes obtained with geldanamycin supported the first clinical trials in 1999, when the effect of 17-AAG was evaluated against unspecific solid and hematological tumors (www.clinicaltrials.gov; *identifiers NCT00003969* and *NCT00004065*). In the past two decades, progress has been made within the clinical evaluation of geldanamycin derivatives in cancer. According to the US National Institutes of Health, geldanamycin analogues 17-AAG, 17-DMAG, IPI-493 and IPI-504 (retaspimycin) have been tested in more than fifty phase I, II and III clinical trials since 1999 in the USA, either as monotherapy or as combined therapy. The clinical limitations obtained with 17-AAG were partially overcome by 17-DMAG, which is more potent and induce reduced side effects. IPI-493 was tested in a few terminated clinical trials, and following researches focused on the analogue IPI-504, which was well tolerated by patients with gastrointestinal tumors and non-small-cell lung cancer [103,104] The evident antitumor effect of these substances has greatly contributed to establish HSP90 as a target for anti-cancer therapy. A detailed review on clinical studies of HSP90 inhibitors is provided by Hong et al., 2013 [105].

Inhibition of HSP90 by ansamycins also impairs inflammation in pre-clinical studies in vitro and in vivo. Geldanamycin and its derivatives reduced the production of inflammatory mediators, such as NO, PGE<sub>2</sub>, TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-10, in LPS-stimulated murine macrophage cell line (RAW 264.7) in vitro [106]. Geldanamycin also attenuated symptoms of collagen-induced arthritis in mice reducing cartilage destruction and bone erosions, impairing the production of inflammatory mediators, the infiltration of inflammatory cells and synovial hyperplasia [107]. Another effect of geldanamycin was the prevention of NLRP3 inflammasome activation, caspase-1 activity and IL-1 $\beta$ , as shown in a model of age-related macular degeneration in human retinal pigment epithelial cells, a disease that leads to blindness among the elderly [108]. In a rat model of endotoxin-induced uveitis, 17-AAG reduced leukocyte adhesion, vascular leakage, NFkB, hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1a, p38 and PI3K activity, and the levels of pro-inflammatory mediators vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ [53].

Macbecin is another ansamycin, identified in the culture broth of Nocardia sp., which binds to HSP90 N-terminal and displays antitumor activity in vitro and in vivo. Macbecin is cytotoxic against leukemia and colon cancer cells, and impairs the development of murine prostate carcinoma xenograft tumors [109]. Herbimycin A, B and C, identified in S. hygroscopicus fermentation broth, were named according to their herbicidal activity [110]. A moderate antitumor activity of herbimycin A was observed in mouse Ehrlich ascites carcinoma [111]; however, its derivatives presented improved effect. In spite of these findings, the anti-tumor activity of herbimycins does not yield effects robust enough to justify further studies. The anti-inflammatory effect of herbimycin A was shown in human intestinal epithelial cells (HT-29) stimulated with enterotoxin of Bacteroides fragilis in vitro. HSP90 inhibition by hebimycin A decreased IKK and NFkB activation, reducing the expression of IL-8 and COX-2 [112].

# 2.1.2. Radicicol and pochonins

Radicicol is a fungal metabolite with fungistatic properties originally identified in *Monosporium bonorden* [113], that binds to HSP90 N-terminal domain and impairs the growth of several tumor cell lines [114,115]. Radicicol has a chemical instability hindering its efficacy in animal models. A series of radicicol analogues was developed, aiming at increasing metabolic stability. The analogue 14,16-dipalmitoyl-radicicol reduced tumor size in mice models of mammary carcinoma, and suppressed the secretion of VEGF, impairing angiogenesis [116]. Its anti-inflammatory activity was shown *in vitro*, by protecting bovine pulmonary arterial endothelial cell permeability [117], and impairing IL-8 gene expression via the blockade of ERK1/2 and p38 pathway on THP1 human macrophage cell line [118]. Radicicol administration *in vivo* impaired intestinal inflammation in a murine model of sepsis [119].

Pochonins A-F are radicicol-related metabolites, identified in *Pochonia chlamydosporia* that also have anti-tumor activities [120]. Their first biological activities were described as inhibitors of

herpes simplex virus 1 and of the protozoan *Eimeria tenella*. Later, it was shown that pochonins A and D directly bind to HSP90 with slightly lower affinity than radicicol [121]. Several pochonins and pochonin analogues, including pochoximes, have been completely synthesized, and have high affinity and efficacy against tumor cells [121,122]. Of special note, pochoxime A is highly toxic to breast cancer cell lines that overexpress HER2, and reduced tumor development in an *in vivo* breast tumor xenograft model [122].

## 2.1.3. Geraniin

Geraniin is a tannin present in the roots of the vegetal species *Geranium thunbergii* [123] shown to have several biological activities, including anti-inflammatory [124] and anti-tumor effects. The latter has been demonstrated against several tumor cell lines *in vitro*, such as human melanoma, osteosarcoma and glioma [125–127]. Recently, it has been demonstrated that the anti-tumor action of geraniin relies on the inhibition of HSP90 activity [128]. Noteworthy, geraniin inhibited glioma growth in mouse xenograft models *in vivo*, via STAT-3 impairment [126].

Anti-inflammatory activity of geraniin was shown in the murine macrophage cell line RAW264.7 *in vitro* and in acute lung injury model *in vivo*, by reducing the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ ). This effect is correlated with the suppression of Akt phosphorylation and the consequent impairment of NF $\kappa$ B translocation. Still, geraniin suppressed the activation of antioxidant genes, by up-regulating Nrf2/HO-1 pathway, playing a protective role in inflammation [129,130].

#### 2.1.4. Gambogic acid

Gambogic acid is a major xanthonoid constituent of gamboge, a resin obtained from *Garcinia hanburyi* (Clusiaceae) [131]. The cytotoxic effect of this compound was initially shown on HeLa cells [132], and further against different cancer types *in vitro* and *in vivo*, including gastric carcinoma, glioblastoma and colorectal cancer. Recent reports have shed light on the anti-tumor mechanisms of gambogic acid, demonstrating that it induced apoptosis, as well as impaired migration, invasion of tumor cells [133,134], and angiogenesis [135]. Gambogic acid also has anti-inflammatory effects *in vitro* and *in vivo*, impairing rheumatoid and antigen-induced arthritis [136,137] and psoriasis [138], by reducing the levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , and the nuclear translocation of NF $\kappa$ B.

The interaction of gambogic acid with HSP90 has been shown to occur via the N-terminal domain, resulting in the inhibition of its chaperoning activity [139]. However, it has been recently reported that gambogic acid binds to the middle domain of the HSP90 $\beta$  isoform, decreasing the client proteins ErbB2, AKT and cyclin dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) in breast cancer cells [140]. Noteworthy, these authors state that this xanthonoid does not bind to GRP94 and TRAP1 HSP90 $\beta$ . Further studies on this interaction are necessary to elucidate the mechanism by which gambogic acid inhibits HSP90 machinery.

## 2.1.5. Panaxynol

Panaxynol, also known as carotatoxin or falcarinol, is a polyacetylene compound found in Apiaceae and Araliaceae families [141]. Biological activities of panaxynol include anti-tumor and anti-inflammatory [142,143]. Panaxynol anti-tumor activity is due to the reduction of cyclin E mRNA expression, resulting in decreased cell proliferation [144]. Panaxynol interacts with both Nand C-terminal domains of the ATP-binding pocket of HSP90 homodimer, impairing angiogenesis, as well as proliferation and viability of cancer stem cells (CSC) and non-CSC populations from non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), without induction of HSP70 expression [145]. Panaxynol anti-inflammatory effect has been demonstrated in *in vivo* models of intestinal inflammation and inflamed macrophage-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, by upregulating Nrf2/HO-1, reducing the levels of inflammatory cytokines, lipid peroxidation and inflammatory cell infiltration [146,147].

## 2.1.6. Deguelin

Deguelin is a rotenoid, which is a natural occurring insecticide found in Fabaceae (Leguminosae) vegetal family [148]. Oh and collaborators [149] have demonstrated that deguelin directly binds to the N-terminal HSP90 ATP-binding pocket and impairs HSP90 chaperone function *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This rotenoid reduces the expression of HSP90 client proteins, such as HIF-1 and PI3K-Akt, in lung, gastric and prostate cancer cell lines and in subcutaneous xenograft mouse model. Recently, the anti-tumor activity of deguelin has been described against Head and Neck Squamous Cell Cancer (HNSCC) cell line, via the downmodulation of IGF1R-Akt and EGFR-Akt pathways, and apoptose induction [150]. Deguelin also reduces p38 MAPK expression in colorectal cancer cells, leading to apoptosis and reduced tumor size on subcutaneous xenograft mouse model [151].

The anti-inflammatory effect of deguelin was shown in an *in vivo* model of allergic airway inflammation by inhibiting NFkB nuclear translocation and leukocyte infliltration to inflamed tissue [152]. Deguelin also played a protective role in a model of inflammation-mediated bone loss by impairing NFkB activation osteoclastogenesis [153].

## 2.1.7. Heteronemin

Heteronemin is a sesterpene isolated from marine sponges [154]. Docking studies revealed that heteronemin binds to the ATPase HSP90 site with a better affinity than 17-AAG [155]. Biological evidence of heteronemin HSP90 inhibitory activity was confirmed on LNcap prostate cancer cell line, in which it led to heat shock response increasing HSP70 expression, tubulin acetylation and HSF-1 phosphorylation. Accordingly, HSP90 client proteins such as IRAK1, pAkt, XIAP, Rb2, HDAC1, PCNA, CDK4 and STAT3 phosphorylation were downregulated *in vitro*. Together, *in silico* and biological data provide strong evidence of HSP90 inhibitory activity of heteronemin. In addition, it has been shown that heteronemin inhibits Ras farnesylation, consequently inhibiting the downstream MAPK signaling, as well as proliferation and survival of acute myeloid leukemia cells [156].

# 2.1.8. C<sub>9</sub>-type iridoids

Dal Piaz and collaborators (2013) [157] performed an HSP90 target-oriented screening testing natural compounds, including iridoids. Among them, verminoside, a C<sub>9</sub>-type iridoid inhibited HSP90 ATPase activity. This finding motivated further analysis of new phytochemicals from Bignoniaceae family, known to be rich in C<sub>9</sub>-type iridoids. Among the Bignoniaceae C<sub>9</sub>-type isolated iridoids, Argenteoside A had very high affinity towards HSP90 $\alpha$  chaperone and binds to its N-terminal domain, as demonstrated by surface plasmonic resonance and molecular docking analysis. The impairment of HSP90 ATPase activity and the consequent downregulation of the expression of client proteins, such as p-Akt and ERK1/2, suggest a potential antitumor effect of Argenteoside A against HeLa (epithelial carcinoma) cells.

## 2.2. Middle-domain binders

#### 2.2.1. Lentiginosine

Lentiginosine is a dihydroxyindolizidine alkaloid present in the leaves of the vegetal species *Astragalus lentiginosus* (Fabaceae), which inhibits fungal amyloglucosidase [158]. Recently, it has been shown that this alkaloid (and a series of synthetic derivatives) interacts with the HSP90 middle-domain and impairs HSP90 ATPase activity, without interacting with the N-terminal ATP binding site [159]. Since the middle domain directly interacts with the cochaperone Aha1 (and with its yeast homologue Hch1) [160], it might be a promising binding site for HSP90 inhibitors. However, this effect, as well as the biological activity of lentiginosine remains to be studied.

# 2.2.2. Kongensin A

Kongensin A is a diterpene first isolated from the aerial parts of the Chinese plant *Croton kongensis* [161]. The antitumor effect of this diterpene was recently described against epithelial carcinoma (HeLa), osteosarcoma (U-2 OS) and colon cancer (HT-29) [162]. Kongensin A inhibit the phosphorylation of the receptorinteracting protein (RIP)1/RIP3 signaling pathway, resulting in anti-necroptotic and pro-apoptotic activities. These activities rely on the inhibition of HSP90-Cdc37 complex, since this compound covalently binds to the amino acid Cys420 of the HSP90β middle domain and, therefore, reducing the expression of the client proteins ErbB2, AKT, EGFR and B-Raf.

# 2.2.3. Sansalvamide

Sansalvamide is a cyclic pentadepsipeptide antibiotic originally obtained from the marine fungus *Fusarium* sp., which is cytotoxic against colon carcinoma and melanoma cells [163]. This compound has also been described as a topoisomerase inhibitor of the pathogenic poxvirus *Molluscum contagiosum* [164]. There are only a few studies on the biological activity of the naturally occurring sansalvamide, since it has a depsipeptide moiety that is unstable *in vivo*, being inactivated by esterase enzymes that break its ester linkage [165]. To overcome this drawback, many derivatives were designed to enhance stability, selectivity and potency against several tumor cell lines, including colon and pancreatic cancer [166,167]. The anti-tumor effect of sansalvamide A derivatives has been associated with the inhibition of HSP90 chaperone activity, by its binding to the HSP90 middle domain, which impairs the coupling of co-chaperones [168].

# 2.3. C-terminal domain binders

#### 2.3.1. Coumarin antibiotics

Novobiocin and coumermycin are natural antibiotics isolated from Streptomyces species [169,170] that belong to the aminocoumarin class, which is known to inhibit bacterial cell division by inhibiting the ATPase activity of DNA gyrase [171]. Pre-clinical data revealed their potential anti-tumor activity by destabilizing oncogenic protein kinases. It was revealed that novobiocin binds to the ATP-binding site of HSP90 C-terminal, inhibiting HSP90-p23 and HSP90-HSP70 interactions: however, with weak affinity [172]. Efforts have been made to develop more efficacious analogues by means of structure-affinity relationships, resulting in specific HSP90 inhibitors [173]. Since these analogues led to client protein degradation and anti-proliferative effects against tumor cell lines, including breast cancer and prostate carcinoma, they were considered promising for further evaluation in vivo. The antiinflammatory effect of novobiocin has been demonstrated in a murine model of inflammatory bowel disease, inhibiting leukocyte infiltration, production of inflammatory mediators and activation of NFkB [174].

In spite of the lack of reports on the co-crystal structure of the HSP90 C-terminus bound to inhibitors, different techniques have been used to confirm their binding site at HSP90 C-terminal domain. Novobiocin binds to the C-terminal domain of HSP90, through truncation studies using solid-phase binding assays [172].

It was further confirmed by point mutation analysis that novobiocin competitively inhibited the binding of ATP-sepharose to HSP90 C-terminal fragment [175]. Novobiocin disrupts HSP90 interaction with p23 and HSP73 [175], as well as impairs HSP90 dimerization [176]. Blagg and co-workers have elucidated the HSP90 C-terminal domain as the binding site and also confirmed the binding of novobiocin at this site by an integrated approach that employs protease fingerprinting, photoaffinity labeling and bioinformatics assays [177]. The enthusiasm with the discovery of novobiocin was short lived due to its poor HSP90 inhibitory activity (IC<sub>50</sub> around 700  $\mu$ M) [178]. However, many attempts are still being made to improve the activities of coumarin antibiotics [179].

#### 2.3.2. Derrubone

Derrubone, an isoflavone originally identified in the vegetal species *Derris robusta* (Fabaceae) [180], was discovered to inhibit HSP90 activity by high throughput screening assays [181]. Derrubone and its synthetic analogues have been shown to degrade the HSP90 client protein HER2 and impair *in vitro* proliferation of breast carcinoma and colon cancer cell lines [181,182]. Chimeric analogues of novobiocin and derrubone have been developed; however the anti-proliferative effect of these substances was not improved [183].

# 2.3.3. Epigallocathechin

Epigallocatechin-3-galate is also an HSP90 modulator that binds to C-terminal ATP binding site. Epigallocatechin-3-galate is a polyphenol from the green tea species *Camellia sinensis* [184] shown to inhibit proliferation and to induce apoptosis of adrenal. pancreatic and breast cancer cells in vitro [185,186]. A recent report describes the anti-tumor effect of orally administered epigallocatechin-3-galate in vivo, by reducing tumor and metastasis in a mouse xenograft model of human prostate cancer [187]. Like novobicion, epigallocatechin-3-gallate binds to the C-terminal domain, which was demonstrated by truncation studies of the immobilized epigallocatechin-3-gallate with HSP90 [188]. Epigallocatechin-3-galate reduces the levels of several HSP90 client proteins associated with cancer, such as ErbB2, Raf-1, phospho-AKT, pERK and Bcl-2, through the inhibition of HSP90 chaperone dimerization and function. Recently, series of semi-synthetic and synthetic analogues of epigallocatechin-3-gallate have been developed aiming at overcoming its poor drug-like properties accounted by the multiple phenolic hydroxyl moieties and a metabolically labile ester in its structure. In fact, such molecular modifications showed improved HSP90 inhibition and anti-tumor efficacy in vitro [189].

Epigallocatechin-3-gallate attenuates microglial inflammation by inhibiting both canonical and non-canonical NLRP3 inflammasome activation via TLR4 in murine BV2 microglial cell line [190]. It also impaired inflammasome activation in macrophages, the release of inflammatory cytokine and the articular infiltration of neutrophil in a mouse model of gout [191].

# 2.3.4. Fusicoccane diterpenes

Fusicoccanes are diterpenes with the dicyclopenta[a,d]cyclooctane ring system. Its biological activities include anti-bacterial [192] and anti-plasmodium activity [193]. In 2018, Li and collaborators [194] reported and anti-inflammatory effect of a fusicoccanetype diterpenoid (Brassicicene S) isolated from the phytopathogenic fungus *Alternaria brassicicola*. Brassicicene S inhibited nitric oxide (NO), TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  production in LPS stimulated RAW264.7 macrophage cell line. Moreover, this compound reduced iNOS expression and abolished NF $\kappa$ Bp65 nuclear translocation. Fusicoccane diterpenes also have anti-tumor activity, as demonstrated by the treatment of five human cancer cell lines with fusicoccane diterpene fusicomycin B [195]. It also inhibited migration and invasion, as well as reduced MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression and activity in human hepatocellular carcinoma SMMC7721 cells. Another fusicoccane diterpene. 18hydroxyhypoestenone, isolated from Hypoestes forskaolii (Acanthaceae) was recently reported to inhibit HSP90 activity [196]. This compound reduced the proliferation and induced apoptosis of the HeLa and Jurkat cancer cells, downregulating pAkt and pERK expression. Interestingly, no heat shock response was observed, once HSP70 or HSP90 expressions were not increased. This pheassociated to the binding of 18nomenon was hydroxyhypoestenone to the C-terminal domain of HSP90, demonstrated by molecular docking. Surface Plasmon Ressonance results demonstrated a good interaction between 18hydroxyhypoestenone and HSP90.

## 2.4. Co-chaperone binders

# 2.4.1. Withaferin A

Withanolides are natural occurring steroidal lactones present in plants from Solanaceae family. These compounds have a well described anti-tumor activity, inhibiting in vivo tumor growth and metastasis of ovarian cancer stem cells [197]. They also induce apoptosis of breast cancer cells and have the HSP90 chaperone as a target [198]. Withaferin A, the most studied withanolides, has anticancer activity against a number of tumor types presenting a pleiotropic role such as pro-apoptotic, anti-proliferative, antimigratory, anti-invasiveness. Withaferin A inhibits HSP90 by disrupting HSP90-Cdc37 interaction [199]. According to Wang and collaborators (2012) [198], withanolides trigger oxidative insults to HSP90, inducing HSP90 oxidation and aggregation, resulting in loss of chaperone function. Withaferin A has been considered as an IkB kinase inhibitor, since it prevents IkB phosphorylation, NFkB nuclear translocation, DNA binding and transcription, also acting as an anti-inflammatory compound [200].

Withaferin A anti-inflammatory effect was demonstrated in macrophage-like cells, by downregulating NF $\kappa$ B nuclear translocation and reducing pro-inflammatory cytokine release upon LPS stimulus [201–203]. Still, withaferin A reduced inflammasome signaling by reducing caspase-1, IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 production by THP-1 cells [201]; reduced COX-2 expression and PGE<sub>2</sub> production on BV2 cells [202], as well as repolarized RAW 264.7 cells from M1 pro-inflammatory-type macrophage towards M2-type macrophages [203]. Withaferin A also has anti-inflammatory effects *in vivo*, as demonstrated in a rat model of adjuvant-induced arthritis [204], in a mouse model of pulmonary fibrosis and in a mouse model of traumatic spinal cord injury [205,206].

#### 2.4.2. Cucurtabicin D

Cucurbitacins are tetracyclic triterpenes present in Cucurbitaceae family plants. Cucurbitacin D displays anti-tumor activity by inhibit CDK1 and CDK4, inducing cell cycle arrest. It inhibits STAT3 and Akt signaling, as well as NFkB nuclear translocation, inhibiting proliferation. Curcubitacin D also reduces MMP2 and MMP9 production reducing migration and metastasis [207-210]. In addition to these activities, Cucurtabicin D modulates glucose metabolism by reducing the expression of GLUT1 receptor. A molecular docking suggests that cucurbitacin D directly binds to GLUT1, reducing glucose uptake by prostate cancer cell line, reducing migration and, leading to a cell cycle arrest and apoptotic cell death [211]. Hall and collaborators (2015) [212] reported, by immunoprecipitation, that cucurbitacin D disrupts HSP90 interaction with both co-chaperones Cdc37 and p23, without inducing heat shock response, resulting in HSP90 client protein degradation. No anti-inflammatory effect has been reported for curcubitacin D. Curcubitacin B and E play antitumor and anti-inflammatory activities; however, the mechanism has not been correlated to HSP90 inhibition.

# 2.4.3. Celastrol

Celastrol (also named tripterine or tripterin) is a pentacyclic triterpenoid from the vegetal species *Tripterygium wilfordii* (Celastraceae), commonly used in popular Chinese medicine for the treatment of several inflammatory conditions [213]. Celastrol is a multitarget compound that has a wide range of biological activities. Its potent anti-inflammatory effects have been long demonstrated in several pre-clinical data obtained by using different animal models, including rheumathoid arthritis [214] and airway inflammation [215]. Celastrol impairs NFkB activation by directly targeting the cysteine 179 in the IKK, which supports both anti-inflammatory and anti-tumor effects [216].

The anti-tumor effect of celastrol has been originally demonstrated in vitro against epidermoid nasopharyngeal carcinoma, glioblastoma, breast, lung, ileocecal and ovarian cancer cell lines [217]. Further reports showed that celastrol has cytotoxic effects against a wider variety of cell lines, such as prostate carcinoma and leukemia cell lines, in which the inhibition of HSP90 decreased the levels of client proteins, including BCR-ABL and EGFR, by an interaction independent of N-terminal ATP-binding pocket [218]. The administration of celastrol significantly impaired the development of breast, prostate and pancreatic tumor xenografts in vivo. Moreover, it decreased metastasis and increased survival [219]. It was described that celastrol disrupts HSP90-Cdc37 and HSP90-p23 complexes [220,221], leading to the degradation of the HSP90 client proteins AKT and CDK4. as well as increased levels of HSP70. Celastrol has also been shown to decrease the expression of MMP-2 and MMP-9, impairing the invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma cells [222].

# 2.4.4. Gedunin

Gedunin is a limonoid constituent of the vegetal species *Azadirachta indica* and *Carapa guianensis*, and other members of the Meliaceae family, which has a wide range of biological activities [223]. For more than a decade, the antimalarial properties of gedunin were the best studied [224]; however, its anti-tumor, antiallergic and anti-inflammatory activities were subsequently demonstrated in different experimental models [48,49,225].

The anti-inflammatory activity of gedunin and its related limonoids have been primarily demonstrated in a mouse model of airway inflammation, in which the oral administration of these compounds impaired NFkB activation and the production of the eosinophilotactic mediators interleukin (IL)-5 and eotaxin/CCL11 [226]. Subsequent studies demonstrated that the intraperitoneal administration of gedunin also impaired allergic lung response and articular inflammation, inhibiting leukocyte infiltration and the production of chemokines, cytokines and lipid mediators [48,49]. Gedunin also directly modulates neutrophil, macrophage and T lymphocyte activation, by inhibiting migration, production of inflammatory mediators and activation of the transcription factors NFκB and NFAT, among others [48,49,227]. Even though the antiinflammatory activity of gedunin has been demonstrated in different animal models in vivo, its anti-tumor in vivo activity has only been recently published. Orally given gedunin reduced the development of oral carcinoma in hamsters, inhibiting PI3K/Akt and NF $\kappa$ B pathways, as well as diminished VEGF levels [228]. Another evidence of gedunin in vivo activity was reported in mouse pancreatic xenograft model, in which the intraperitoneal administration of gedunin impaired tumor growth and metastasis via the negative modulation of the hedgehog signaling pathway [42].

Gedunin was first identified as a HSP90 inhibitor by means of connectivity map [229]. Later, it was demonstrated that gedunin

impairs HSP90 activity by an indirect mechanism, impairing the interaction of HSP90 with the co-chaperone Cdc37 and, consequently, disrupting client proteins in MCF-7 breast cancer cells [84]. In 2013, Patwardhan and co-workers demonstrated that gedunin binds to another HSP90 co-chaperone, the p23 protein, leading to the apoptosis of several tumor cells, including breast and cervical carcinoma [85]. Gedunin binding site on p23 (pdb code: 1EJF) was mapped by molecular docking studies [230]. The anti-HSP90 activity strongly supports both anti-inflammatory and anti-tumor effects of this limonoid.

Recently, our group has revealed that gedunin is a multitarget compound, which might contribute to the modulation of the inflammatory response induced by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). By using in silico analysis, we have shown that gedunin binds to caspase-1, TLR2, TLR3 and to the LPS-binding component myeloid differentiation factor-2 (MD-2) of the MD-2/ TLR4 complex [231,232]. Interestingly, crystal structures of MD-2 and p23 revealed that these two proteins possess a similar antiparallel  $\beta$ -sandwich fold, with a well-defined hydrophobic pocket, implying that gedunin binds to MD-2 in a similar binding site. The binding of gedunin to MD-2 was further confirmed by surface plasmon resonance. In vitro and in vivo assays demonstrated that gedunin treatment impaired TLR2, 3 and 4 signaling, inhibiting the expression of nucleotide-binding domain and leucine-rich repeat protein-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome, caspase-1 activation and the production of IL-1 $\beta$  by macrophages. Worthy of note, gedunin is capable to elicit anti-inflammatory mechanisms in vitro an in vivo in both resting and stress conditions, via the production of heme oxigenase (HO-1) and IL-10, which enhances the therapeutic potential of this compound.

It is important to note that the inhibition of the co-chaperones p23, Cdc37 and Aha1 leads to the sensitization of tumor cells to HSP90 inhibitors, such as 17-AAG [83,86]. Therefore, the molecular mechanism of celastrol and gedunin to inhibit HSP90 represents a potential therapeutic strategy to increase sensitivity to HSP90 inhibitors and overcome resistance.

## 3. Conclusion

HSP90 is a promising target for the treatment of cancer and inflammatory diseases, which is supported by the central role displayed by HSP90 machinery in chaperoning oncoproteins, kinases and transcriptional factors involved in cancer and inflammation. Advances in pre-clinical and clinical studies are paving the way for the use of HSP90 inhibitors in the clinic as monotherapy or as combined therapy, as a strategy to avoid the development of drug resistance. Another strategy to avoid drug resistance is the indirect inhibition of HSP90 activity by silencing co-chaperones, a common mechanism of the natural inhibitors celastrol and gedunin. Considering HSP90 pleiotropic effects and the wide range of HSP90 client proteins involved in homeostatic processes, the selectivity of HSP90 inhibitors for "tumoral HSP90" is one of the great benefits of these compounds, which supports HSP90 as a druggable target. Natural HSP90 inhibitors have highly contributed to the knowledge concerning HSP90 involvement in cancer and inflammation, as well as to the identification and the development of new semi- or full-synthetic HSP90 inhibitors. Although off-target toxicity is one of the biggest limitations of natural HSP90 inhibitors, safety is being improved with the development of derivatives based on natural scaffolds, which aims at high efficacy and low toxicity of novel HSP90 inhibitors.

## **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare to have no conflict of interest.

## Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge the use of services and facilities, and financial support from the Institute of Drug Technology (Farmanguinhos) at the Oswaldo Cruz Foundation (Rio de Janeiro, Brazil) and from the National Institute for Science and Technology on Innovation on Neglected Diseases (INCT/IDN). RN is sponsored by a fellowship from the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES)/Center for Technological Development in Health (CDTS). CP holds a grant from the Brazilian agency National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq). We would also like to thank Dr. Thomas Krahe and Fernanda Schnoor for critical reading of the manuscript, and Dr. Tatiana Pádua for illustration assistance. Graphical abstract contains original figures from Mind the Graph LTDA (http://www. mindthegraph.com) and HSP90 ribbon structure draw in Maestro version 11 (Schrödinger, LLC, New York, NY).

## Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112063.

# References

- F.U. Hartl, A. Bracher, M. Hayer-Hartl, Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis, Nature 475 (2011) 324–332, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature10317.
- [2] F.H. Schopf, M.M. Biebl, J. Buchner, The HSP90 chaperone machinery, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 18 (2017) 345–360, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.20.
- [3] J. Trepel, M. Mollapour, G. Giaccone, L. Neckers, Targeting the dynamic HSP90 complex in cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer 10 (2010) 537–549, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrc2887.
- [4] S. Basu, R.J. Binder, R. Suto, K.M. Anderson, P.K. Srivastava, Necrotic but not apoptotic cell death releases heat shock proteins, which deliver a partial maturation signal to dendritic cells and activate the NF-kappa B pathway, Int. Immunol. 12 (2000) 1539–1546. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 11058573.
- [5] K. Sidera, M. Gaitanou, D. Stellas, R. Matsas, E. Patsavoudi, A critical role for HSP90 in cancer cell invasion involves interaction with the extracellular domain of HER-2, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 2031–2041, https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M701803200.
- [6] M. Taipale, I. Krykbaeva, M. Koeva, C. Kayatekin, K.D. Westover, G.I. Karras, S. Lindquist, Quantitative analysis of HSP90-client interactions reveals principles of substrate recognition, Cell 150 (2012) 987–1001, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.047.
- [7] C. DeBoer, P.A. Meulman, R.J. Wnuk, D.H. Peterson, Geldanamycin, a new antibiotic, J. Antibiot. 23 (1970) 442–447. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/5459626.
- [8] D.J. Newman, G.M. Cragg, Natural products as sources of new drugs from 1981 to 2014, J. Nat. Prod. 79 (2016) 629–661, https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.jnatprod.5b01055.
- [9] L. Neckers, P. Workman, Hsp90 molecular chaperone inhibitors: are we there yet? Clin. Cancer Res. 18 (2012) 64–76, https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1000.
- [10] L.M. Butler, R. Ferraldeschi, H.K. Armstrong, M.M. Centenera, P. Workman, Maximizing the therapeutic potential of HSP90 inhibitors, Mol. Cancer Res. 13 (2015) 1445–1451, https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-15-0234.
- [11] U. Banerji, A. O'Donnell, M. Scurr, S. Pacey, S. Stapleton, Y. Asad, L. Simmons, A. Maloney, F. Raynaud, M. Campbell, M. Walton, S. Lakhani, S. Kaye, P. Workman, I. Judson, Phase I pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study of 17-allylamino, 17-demethoxygeldanamycin in patients with advanced malignancies, J. Clin. Oncol. 23 (2005) 4152–4161, https://doi.org/ 10.1200/JCO.2005.00.612.
- [12] I.B. Weinstein, Cancer. Addiction to oncogenes-the Achilles heal of cancer, Science 297 (2002) 63-64, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1073096, 80-.
- [13] M. V Blagosklonny, J. Toretsky, S. Bohen, L. Neckers, Mutant conformation of p53 translated in vitro or in vivo requires functional HSP90, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93 (1996) 8379–8383. U S A, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 8710879.
- [14] B. Becker, G. Multhoff, B. Farkas, P.J. Wild, M. Landthaler, W. Stolz, T. Vogt, Induction of Hsp90 protein expression in malignant melanomas and melanoma metastases, Exp. Dermatol. 13 (2004) 27–32, https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.0906-6705.2004.00114.x.
- [15] E.F. Burgess, A.J. Ham, D.L. Tabb, D. Billheimer, B.J. Roth, S.S. Chang, M.S. Cookson, T.J. Hinton, K.L. Cheek, S. Hill, J.A. Pietenpol, Prostate cancer serum biomarker discovery through proteomic analysis of alpha-2

macroglobulin protein complexes, Proteom. Clin. Appl. 2 (2008) 1223, https://doi.org/10.1002/prca.200780073.

- [16] Q. Cheng, J.T. Chang, J. Geradts, L.M. Neckers, T. Haystead, N.L. Spector, H.K. Lyerly, Amplification and high-level expression of heat shock protein 90 marks aggressive phenotypes of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 negative breast cancer, Breast Cancer Res. 14 (2012) R62, https://doi.org/ 10.1186/bcr3168.
- [17] P. Flandrin, D. Guyotat, A. Duval, J. Cornillon, E. Tavernier, N. Nadal, L. Campos, Significance of heat-shock protein (HSP) 90 expression in acute myeloid leukemia cells, Cell Stress Chaperones 13 (2008) 357–364, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0035-3.
- [18] H. Kubota, S. Yamamoto, E. Itoh, Y. Abe, A. Nakamura, Y. Izumi, H. Okada, M. Iida, H. Nanjo, H. Itoh, Y. Yamamoto, Increased expression of cochaperone HOP with HSP90 and HSC70 and complex formation in human colonic carcinoma, Cell Stress Chaperones 15 (2010) 1003–1011, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12192-010-0211-0.
- [19] M.M. McCarthy, E. Pick, Y. Kluger, B. Gould-Rothberg, R. Lazova, R.L. Camp, D.L. Rimm, H.M. Kluger, HSP90 as a marker of progression in melanoma, Ann. Oncol. 19 (2008) 590–594, https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdm545.
- [20] E. Pick, Y. Kluger, J.M. Giltnane, C. Moeder, R.L. Camp, D.L. Rimm, H.M. Kluger, High HSP90 expression is associated with decreased survival in breast cancer, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 2932–2937, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4511.
- [21] L. Sedlackova, M. Spacek, E. Holler, Z. Imryskova, I. Hromadnikova, Heatshock protein expression in leukemia, Tumour Biol. 32 (2011) 33–44, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-010-0088-7.
- [22] X. Wang, X. Song, W. Zhuo, Y. Fu, H. Shi, Y. Liang, M. Tong, G. Chang, Y. Luo, The regulatory mechanism of Hsp90alpha secretion and its function in tumor malignancy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 21288–21293, https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908151106.
- [23] M. Yano, Z. Naito, M. Yokoyama, Y. Shiraki, T. Ishiwata, M. Inokuchi, G. Asano, Expression of hsp90 and cyclin D1 in human breast cancer, Cancer Lett. 137 (1999) 45–51. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10376793.
- [24] L Zhong, X. Peng, C.E. Hidalgo, D.E. Doherty, AJ. Stromberg, E.A. Hirschowitz, Antibodies to HSP70 and HSP90 in serum in non-small cell lung cancer patients, Cancer Detect. Prev. 27 (2003) 285–290. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/12893076.
- [25] B.K. Eustace, T. Sakurai, J.K. Stewart, D. Yimlamai, C. Unger, C. Zehetmeier, B. Lain, C. Torella, S.W. Henning, G. Beste, B.T. Scroggins, L. Neckers, L.L. Ilag, D.G. Jay, Functional proteomic screens reveal an essential extracellular role for hsp90 alpha in cancer cell invasiveness, Nat. Cell Biol. 6 (2004) 507–514, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1131.
- [26] F. Lagarrigue, S. Dupuis-Coronas, D. Ramel, G. Delsol, H. Tronchère, B. Payrastre, F. Gaits-lacovoni, Matrix metalloproteinase-9 is upregulated in nucleophosmin-anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive anaplastic lymphomas and activated at the cell surface by the chaperone heat shock protein 90 to promote cell invasion, Cancer Res. 70 (2010) 6978–6987, https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0861.
- [27] X. Song, X. Wang, W. Zhuo, H. Shi, D. Feng, Y. Sun, Y. Liang, Y. Fu, D. Zhou, Y. Luo, The regulatory mechanism of extracellular Hsp90{alpha} on matrix metalloproteinase-2 processing and tumor angiogenesis, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 40039–40049, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.181941.
- [28] D. Stellas, A. El Hamidieh, E. Patsavoudi, Monoclonal antibody 4C5 prevents activation of MMP2 and MMP9 by disrupting their interaction with extracellular HSP90 and inhibits formation of metastatic breast cancer cell deposits, BMC Cell Biol. 11 (2010) 51, https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-11-51.
- [29] E. Tramentozzi, E. Tibaldi, A.M. Brunati, A. Pagetta, P. Finotti, Crucial role of HSP90 in the Akt-dependent promotion of angiogenic-like effect of glucoseregulated protein94 (Grp94)-IgG complexes, J. Cell Mol. Med. 15 (2011) 2768–2780, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2011.01275.x.
- [30] J.S. Chen, Y.M. Hsu, C.C. Chen, LL. Chen, C.C. Lee, T.S. Huang, Secreted heat shock protein 90alpha induces colorectal cancer cell invasion through CD91/ LRP-1 and NF-kappaB-mediated integrin alphaV expression, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 25458–25466, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.139345.
- [31] U. Gopal, J.E. Bohonowych, C. Lema-Tome, A. Liu, E. Garrett-Mayer, B. Wang, J.S. Isaacs, A novel extracellular Hsp90 mediated co-receptor function for LRP1 regulates EphA2 dependent glioblastoma cell invasion, PLoS One 6 (2011), e17649, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017649.
- [32] M.W. Hance, K. Dole, U. Gopal, J.E. Bohonowych, A. Jezierska-Drutel, C.A. Neumann, H. Liu, I.P. Garraway, J.S. Isaacs, Secreted Hsp90 is a novel regulator of the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) in prostate cancer, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (2012) 37732–37744, https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M112.389015.
- [33] D. Thuringer, A. Hammann, N. Benikhlef, E. Fourmaux, A. Bouchot, G. Wettstein, E. Solary, C. Garrido, Transactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor by heat shock protein 90 via Toll-like receptor 4 contributes to the migration of glioblastoma cells, J. Biol. Chem. 286 (2011) 3418–3428, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.154823.
- [34] D. Hanahan, R.A. Weinberg, Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation, Cell 144 (2011) 646–674, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.
- [35] S.A. Eccles, A. Massey, F.I. Raynaud, S.Y. Sharp, G. Box, M. Valenti, L. Patterson, A. de Haven Brandon, S. Gowan, F. Boxall, W. Aherne, M. Rowlands, A. Hayes, V. Martins, F. Urban, K. Boxall, C. Prodromou, L. Pearl, K. James, T.P. Matthews, K.M. Cheung, A. Kalusa, K. Jones, E. McDonald, X. Barril,

P.A. Brough, J.E. Cansfield, B. Dymock, M.J. Drysdale, H. Finch, R. Howes, R.E. Hubbard, A. Surgenor, P. Webb, M. Wood, L. Wright, P. Workman, NVP-AUY922: a novel heat shock protein 90 inhibitor active against xenograft tumor growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 2850–2860, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5256.

- [36] N. Gaspar, S.Y. Sharp, S.A. Eccles, S. Gowan, S. Popov, C. Jones, A. Pearson, G. Vassal, P. Workman, Mechanistic evaluation of the novel HSP90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 in adult and pediatric glioblastoma, Mol. Cancer Ther. 9 (2010) 1219–1233, https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0683.
- [37] H.B. Kim, S.H. Lee, J.H. Um, W.K. Oh, D.W. Kim, C.D. Kang, S.H. Kim, Sensitization of multidrug-resistant human cancer cells to Hsp90 inhibitors by down-regulation of SIRT1, Oncotarget 6 (2015) 36202–36218, https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.5343.
- [38] S.F. Lin, J.D. Lin, C. Hsueh, T.C. Chou, C.N. Yeh, M.H. Chen, R.J. Wong, Efficacy of an HSP90 inhibitor, ganetespib, in preclinical thyroid cancer models, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 41294–41304, https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.17180.
- [39] C. Lu, D. Liu, J. Jin, H. Deokar, Y. Zhang, J.K. Buolamwini, X. Yu, C. Yan, X. Chen, Inhibition of gastric tumor growth by a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, Biochem. Pharmacol. 85 (2013) 1246–1256, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bcp.2013.02.003.
- [40] B. Newman, Y. Liu, H.F. Lee, D. Sun, Y. Wang, HSP90 inhibitor 17-AAG selectively eradicates lymphoma stem cells, Cancer Res. 72 (2012) 4551–4561, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3600.
- [41] T. Shimamura, S.A. Perera, K.P. Foley, J. Sang, S.J. Rodig, T. Inoue, L. Chen, D. Li, J. Carretero, Y.C. Li, P. Sinha, C.D. Carey, C.L. Borgman, J.P. Jimenez, M. Meyerson, W. Ying, J. Barsoum, K.K. Wong, G.I. Shapiro, Ganetespib (STA-9090), a nongeldanamycin HSP90 inhibitor, has potent antitumor activity in in vitro and in vivo models of non-small cell lung cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 18 (2012) 4973–4985, https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2967.
- [42] R. Subramani, E. Gonzalez, S.B. Nandy, A. Arumugam, F. Camacho, J. Medel, D. Alabi, R. Lakshmanaswamy, Gedunin inhibits pancreatic cancer by altering sonic hedgehog signaling pathway, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 10891–10904, https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.8055.
- [43] N.L. Komarova, D. Wodarz, Drug resistance in cancer: principles of emergence and prevention, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 9714–9719, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501870102.
- [44] A. Kamal, L. Thao, J. Sensintaffar, L. Zhang, M.F. Boehm, L.C. Fritz, F.J. Burrows, A high-affinity conformation of Hsp90 confers tumour selectivity on Hsp90 inhibitors, Nature 425 (2003) 407–410, https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature01913.
- [45] A. Rodina, T. Wang, P. Yan, E.D. Gomes, M.P. Dunphy, N. Pillarsetty, J. Koren, J.F. Gerecitano, T. Taldone, H. Zong, E. Caldas-Lopes, M. Alpaugh, A. Corben, M. Riolo, B. Beattie, C. Pressl, R.I. Peter, C. Xu, R. Trondl, H.J. Patel, F. Shimizu, A. Bolaender, C. Yang, P. Panchal, M.F. Farooq, S. Kishinevsky, S. Modi, O. Lin, F. Chu, S. Patil, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Zanzonico, C. Hudis, L. Studer, G.J. Roboz, E. Cesarman, L. Cerchietti, R. Levine, A. Melnick, S.M. Larson, J.S. Lewis, M.L. Guzman, G. Chiosis, The epichaperome is an integrated chaperome network that facilitates tumour survival, Nature 538 (2016) 397–401, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19807.
- [46] J.L. Eiseman, J. Lan, T.F. Lagattuta, D.R. Hamburger, E. Joseph, J.M. Covey, M.J. Egorin, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of 17-demethoxy 17-[[(2-dimethylamino)ethyl]amino]geldanamycin (17DMAG, NSC 707545) in C.B-17 SCID mice bearing MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer xenografts, Cancer Chemother, Pharmacol. 55 (2005) 21–32, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00280-004-0865-3.
- [47] M. Vilenchik, D. Solit, A. Basso, H. Huezo, B. Lucas, H. He, N. Rosen, C. Spampinato, P. Modrich, G. Chiosis, Targeting wide-range oncogenic transformation via PU24FCl, a specific inhibitor of tumor Hsp90, Chem. Biol. 11 (2004) 787–797, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2004.04.008.
- [48] F.K. Ferraris, K.H. Moret, A.B. Figueiredo, C. Penido, M. Henriques, Gedunin, a natural tetranortriterpenoid, modulates T lymphocyte responses and ameliorates allergic inflammation, Int. Immunopharmacol. 14 (2012) 82–93, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2012.06.002.
- [49] F.P. Conte, F.K. Ferraris, T.E. Costa, P. Pacheco, L.N. Seito, W.A. Verri, F.Q. Cunha, C. Penido, M.G. Henriques, Effect of gedunin on acute articular inflammation and hypernociception in mice, Molecules 20 (2015) 2636–2657, https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules20022636.
- [50] J.W. Rice, J.M. Veal, R.P. Fadden, A.F. Barabasz, J.M. Partridge, T.E. Barta, L.G. Dubois, K.H. Huang, S.R. Mabbett, M.A. Silinski, P.M. Steed, S.E. Hall, Small molecule inhibitors of Hsp90 potently affect inflammatory disease pathways and exhibit activity in models of rheumatoid arthritis, Arthritis Rheum. 58 (2008) 3765–3775, https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24047.
- [51] S.R. Choi, S.A. Lee, Y.J. Kim, C.Y. Ok, H.J. Lee, K.B. Hahm, Role of heat shock proteins in gastric inflammation and ulcer healing, J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 60 (Suppl 7) (2009) 5–17. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20388941.
- [52] C.B. Collins, C.M. Aherne, A. Yeckes, K. Pound, H.K. Eltzschig, P. Jedlicka, E.F. de Zoeten, Inhibition of N-terminal ATPase on HSP90 attenuates colitis through enhanced Treg function, Mucosal Immunol. 6 (2013) 960–971, https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2012.134.
- [53] V. Poulaki, E. Iliaki, N. Mitsiades, C.S. Mitsiades, Y.N. Paulus, D. V Bula, E.S. Gragoudas, J.W. Miller, Inhibition of Hsp90 attenuates inflammation in endotoxin-induced uveitis, FASEB J. 21 (2007) 2113–2123, https://doi.org/ 10.1096/fj.06-7637com.
- [54] J. Madrigal-Matute, O. López-Franco, L.M. Blanco-Colio, B. Muñoz-García,

P. Ramos-Mozo, L. Ortega, J. Egido, J.L. Martín-Ventura, Heat shock protein 90 inhibitors attenuate inflammatory responses in atherosclerosis, Cardiovasc. Res. 86 (2010) 330–337, https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvq046.

- [55] A. Lilja, C.E. Weeden, K. McArthur, T. Nguyen, A. Donald, Z.X. Wong, L. Dousha, S. Bozinovski, R. Vlahos, C.J. Burns, M.L. Asselin-Labat, G.P. Anderson, HSP90 inhibition suppresses lipopolysaccharide-induced lung inflammation in vivo, PLoS One 10 (2015), e0114975, https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0114975.
- [56] A. Chatterjee, C. Dimitropoulou, F. Drakopanayiotakis, G. Antonova, C. Snead, J. Cannon, R.C. Venema, J.D. Catravas, Heat shock protein 90 inhibitors prolong survival, attenuate inflammation, and reduce lung injury in murine sepsis, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 176 (2007) 667–675, https://doi.org/ 10.1164/rccm.200702-2910C.
- [57] C.A. Dickey, A. Kamal, K. Lundgren, N. Klosak, R.M. Bailey, J. Dunmore, P. Ash, S. Shoraka, J. Zlatkovic, C.B. Eckman, C. Patterson, D.W. Dickson, N.S. Nahman, M. Hutton, F. Burrows, L. Petrucelli, The high-affinity HSP90-CHIP complex recognizes and selectively degrades phosphorylated tau client proteins, I. Clin. Investig. 117 (2007) 648-658. https://doi.org/10.1172/ICI29715.
- [58] F. Dou, W.J. Netzer, K. Tanemura, F. Li, F.U. Hartl, A. Takashima, G.K. Gouras, P. Greengard, H. Xu, Chaperones increase association of tau protein with microtubules, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 721–726, https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.242720499.
- [59] C.G. Evans, S. Wisén, J.E. Gestwicki, Heat shock proteins 70 and 90 inhibit early stages of amyloid beta-(1-42) aggregation in vitro, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 33182–33191, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M606192200.
- [60] S.F. Falsone, A.J. Kungl, A. Rek, R. Cappai, K. Zangger, The molecular chaperone Hsp90 modulates intermediate steps of amyloid assembly of the Parkinson-related protein alpha-synuclein, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 31190–31199, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.057240.
- [61] P.J. McLean, J. Klucken, Y. Shin, B.T. Hyman, Geldanamycin induces Hsp70 and prevents alpha-synuclein aggregation and toxicity in vitro, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 321 (2004) 665–669, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bbrc.2004.07.021.
- [62] K.D. Singleton, P.E. Wischmeyer, Effects of HSP70.1/3 gene knockout on acute respiratory distress syndrome and the inflammatory response following sepsis, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 290 (2006) L956-L961, https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00466.2005.
- [63] B.J. Prakken, U. Wendling, R. van der Zee, V.P. Rutten, W. Kuis, W. van Eden, Induction of IL-10 and inhibition of experimental arthritis are specific features of microbial heat shock proteins that are absent for other evolutionarily conserved immunodominant proteins, J. Immunol. 167 (2001) 4147–4153. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11591734.
- [64] K. Tanaka, T. Namba, Y. Arai, M. Fujimoto, H. Adachi, G. Sobue, K. Takeuchi, A. Nakai, T. Mizushima, Genetic evidence for a protective role for heat shock factor 1 and heat shock protein 70 against colitis, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 23240–23252, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M704081200.
- [65] T.J. Borges, B.N. Porto, C.A. Teixeira, M. Rodrigues, F.D. Machado, A.P. Ornaghi, A.P. de Souza, F. Maito, W.R. Pavanelli, J.S. Silva, C. Bonorino, Prolonged survival of allografts induced by mycobacterial Hsp70 is dependent on CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells, PLoS One 5 (2010), e14264, https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0014264.
- [66] T.J. Borges, L. Wieten, M.J. van Herwijnen, F. Broere, R. van der Zee, C. Bonorino, W. van Eden, The anti-inflammatory mechanisms of Hsp70, Front. Immunol. 3 (2012) 95, https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00095.
- [67] X. Cao, L. Yue, J. Song, Q. Wu, N. Li, L. Luo, L. Lan, Z. Yin, Inducible HSP70 antagonizes IL-1β cytocidal effects through inhibiting NF-kB activation via destabilizing TAK1 in HeLa cells, PLoS One 7 (2012), e50059, https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0050059.
- [68] H. Chen, Y. Wu, Y. Zhang, L. Jin, L. Luo, B. Xue, C. Lu, X. Zhang, Z. Yin, Hsp70 inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced NF-kappaB activation by interacting with TRAF6 and inhibiting its ubiquitination, FEBS Lett. 580 (2006) 3145–3152, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2006.04.066.
- [69] T. Detanico, L. Rodrigues, A.C. Sabritto, M. Keisermann, M.E. Bauer, H. Zwickey, C. Bonorino, Mycobacterial heat shock protein 70 induces interleukin-10 production: immunomodulation of synovial cell cytokine profile and dendritic cell maturation, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 135 (2004) 336–342. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14738465.
- [70] I. V Guzhova, Z.A. Darieva, A.R. Melo, B.A. Margulis, Major stress protein Hsp70 interacts with NF-kB regulatory complex in human T-lymphoma cells, Cell Stress Chaperones 2 (1997) 132–139. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9250404.
- [71] E. Patridge, P. Gareiss, M.S. Kinch, D. Hoyer, An analysis of FDA-approved drugs: natural products and their derivatives, Drug Discov. Today 21 (2016) 204–207, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2015.01.009.
- [72] T.W. Schulte, L.M. Neckers, The benzoquinone ansamycin 17-allylamino-17demethoxygeldanamycin binds to HSP90 and shares important biologic activities with geldanamycin, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 42 (1998) 273–279, https://doi.org/10.1007/s002800050817.
- [73] C. Dai, S. Santagata, Z. Tang, J. Shi, J. Cao, H. Kwon, R.T. Bronson, L. Whitesell, S. Lindquist, Loss of tumor suppressor NF1 activates HSF1 to promote carcinogenesis, J. Clin. Investig. 122 (2012) 3742–3754, https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI62727.
- [74] H.R. Kim, H.S. Kang, H.D. Kim, Geldanamycin induces heat shock protein expression through activation of HSF1 in K562 erythroleukemic cells, IUBMB Life 48 (1999) 429–433, https://doi.org/10.1080/713803536.

- [75] J.H. Lee, J. Gao, P.A. Kosinski, S.J. Elliman, T.E. Hughes, J. Gromada, D.M. Kemp, Heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) inhibitors activate the heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) stress response pathway and improve glucose regulation in diabetic mice, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 430 (2013) 1109–1113, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.12.029.
- [76] S. Santagata, R. Hu, N.U. Lin, M.L. Mendillo, L.C. Collins, S.E. Hankinson, S.J. Schnitt, L. Whitesell, R.M. Tamimi, S. Lindquist, T.A. Ince, High levels of nuclear heat-shock factor 1 (HSF1) are associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108 (2011) 18378–18383, https://doi.org/ 10.1073/PNAS.1115031108.
- [77] L. Whitesell, S.L. Lindquist, HSP90 and the chaperoning of cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer 5 (2005) 761–772, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1716.
- [78] A. Cavanaugh, B. Juengst, K. Sheridan, J.F. Danella, H. Williams, Combined inhibition of heat shock proteins 90 and 70 leads to simultaneous degradation of the oncogenic signaling proteins involved in muscle invasive bladder cancer, Oncotarget 6 (2015) 39821–39838, https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.5496.
- [79] L. Ma, F. Sato, R. Sato, T. Matsubara, K. Hirai, M. Yamasaki, T. Shin, T. Shimada, T. Nomura, K. Mori, Y. Sumino, H. Mimata, Dual targeting of heat shock proteins 90 and 70 promotes cell death and enhances the anticancer effect of chemotherapeutic agents in bladder cancer, Oncol. Rep. 31 (2014) 2482–2492, https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2014.3132.
- [80] Y. Wang, S.R. McAlpine, Combining an Hsp70 inhibitor with either an N- or C-terminal Hsp90 inhibitor produces mechanistically distinct phenotypes, Org. Biomol. Chem. 13 (2015) 3691–3698, https://doi.org/10.1039/ c5ob00147a.
- [81] D. Bickel, H. Gohlke, C-terminal modulators of heat shock protein of 90 kDa (HSP90): state of development and modes of action, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 27 (2019) 115080, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BMC.2019.115080.
- [82] A. Donnelly, B.S. Blagg, Novobiocin and additional inhibitors of the Hsp90 Cterminal nucleotide-binding pocket, Curr. Med. Chem. 15 (2008) 2702–2717. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18991631.
- [83] P.J. Gray, M.A. Stevenson, S.K. Calderwood, Targeting Cdc37 inhibits multiple signaling pathways and induces growth arrest in prostate cancer cells, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 11942–11950, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-3162.
- [84] R.L. Matts, A. Dixit, L.B. Peterson, L. Sun, S. Voruganti, P. Kalyanaraman, S.D. Hartson, G.M. Verkhivker, B.S. Blagg, Elucidation of the Hsp90 C-terminal inhibitor binding site, ACS Chem. Biol. 6 (2011) 800–807, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/cb200052x.
- [85] C.A. Patwardhan, A. Fauq, L.B. Peterson, C. Miller, B.S. Blagg, A. Chadli, Gedunin inactivates the co-chaperone p23 protein causing cancer cell death by apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 288 (2013) 7313–7325, https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M112.427328.
- [86] J.L. Holmes, S.Y. Sharp, S. Hobbs, P. Workman, Silencing of HSP90 cochaperone AHA1 expression decreases client protein activation and increases cellular sensitivity to the HSP90 inhibitor 17-allylamino-17demethoxygeldanamycin, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 1188–1197, https:// doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-3268.
- [87] A. Barreto, J.M. Gonzalez, E. Kabingu, A. Asea, S. Fiorentino, Stress-induced release of HSC70 from human tumors, Cell. Immunol. 222 (2003) 97–104. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12826079.
- [88] M. Shevtsov, G. Multhoff, Heat shock protein-peptide and HSP-based immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer, Front. Immunol. 7 (2016) 171, https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00171.
- [89] R.P. Wallin, A. Lundqvist, S.H. More, A. von Bonin, R. Kiessling, H.G. Ljunggren, Heat-shock proteins as activators of the innate immune system, Trends Immunol. 23 (2002) 130–135. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/11864840.
- [90] S. Ramalingam, G. Goss, R. Rosell, G. Schmid-Bindert, B. Zaric, Z. Andric, I. Bondarenko, D. Komov, T. Ceric, F. Khuri, M. Samarzija, E. Felip, T. Ciuleanu, V. Hirsh, T. Wehler, J. Spicer, R. Salgia, G. Shapiro, E. Sheldon, F. Teofilovici, V. Vukovic, D. Fennell, A randomized phase II study of ganetespib, a heat shock protein 90 inhibitor, in combination with docetaxel in second-line therapy of advanced non-small cell lung cancer (GALAXY-1), Ann. Oncol. 26 (2015) 1741–1748, https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv220.
- [91] S. Modi, A. Stopeck, H. Linden, D. Solit, S. Chandarlapaty, N. Rosen, G. D'Andrea, M. Dickler, M.E. Moynahan, S. Sugarman, W. Ma, S. Patil, L. Norton, A.L. Hannah, C. Hudis, HSP90 inhibition is effective in breast cancer: a phase II trial of tanespimycin (17-AAG) plus trastruzumab in patients with HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer progressing on trastuzumab, Clin. Cancer Res. 17 (2011) 5132–5139, https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-11-0072.
- [92] W. Ying, Z. Du, L. Sun, K.P. Foley, D.A. Proia, R.K. Blackman, D. Zhou, T. Inoue, N. Tatsuta, J. Sang, S. Ye, J. Acquaviva, L.S. Ogawa, Y. Wada, J. Barsoum, K. Koya, Ganetespib, a unique triazolone-containing Hsp90 inhibitor, exhibits potent antitumor activity and a superior safety profile for cancer therapy, Mol. Cancer Ther. 11 (2012) 475–484, https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1535-7163.MCT-11-0755.
- [93] D. Zhou, Y. Liu, J. Ye, W. Ying, L.S. Ogawa, T. Inoue, N. Tatsuta, Y. Wada, K. Koya, Q. Huang, R.C. Bates, A.J. Sonderfan, A rat retinal damage model predicts for potential clinical visual disturbances induced by Hsp90 inhibitors, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 273 (2013) 401–409, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.taap.2013.09.018.
- [94] L. Whitesell, E.G. Mimnaugh, B. De Costa, C.E. Myers, L.M. Neckers, Inhibition

of heat shock protein HSP90-pp60v-src heteroprotein complex formation by benzoquinone ansamycins: essential role for stress proteins in oncogenic transformation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 91 (1994) 8324–8328. U S A, https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8078881.

- [95] C.E. Stebbins, A.A. Russo, C. Schneider, N. Rosen, F.U. Hartl, N.P. Pavletich, Crystal structure of an Hsp90-geldanamycin complex: targeting of a protein chaperone by an antitumor agent, Cell 89 (1997) 239–250. https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9108479.
- [96] S. Dikalov, U. Landmesser, D.G. Harrison, Geldanamycin leads to superoxide formation by enzymatic and non-enzymatic redox cycling. Implications for studies of Hsp90 and endothelial cell nitric-oxide synthase, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 25480–25485, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M203271200.
- [97] F. Hartmann, E.M. Horak, C. Cho, R. Lupu, J.B. Bolen, M.A. Stetler-Stevenson, M. Pfreundschuh, T.A. Waldmann, I.D. Horak, Effects of the tyrosine-kinase inhibitor geldanamycin on ligand-induced Her-2/neu activation, receptor expression and proliferation of Her-2-positive malignant cell lines, Int. J. Cancer 70 (1997) 221–229. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 9009164.
- [98] I.A. Vasilevskaya, P.J. O'Dwyer, Effects of geldanamycin on signaling through activator-protein 1 in hypoxic HT29 human colon adenocarcinoma cells, Cancer Res. 59 (1999) 3935–3940. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 10463587.
- [99] R.C. Schnur, M.L. Corman, R.J. Gallaschun, B.A. Cooper, M.F. Dee, J.L. Doty, M.L. Muzzi, C.I. DiOrio, E.G. Barbacci, P.E. Miller, erbB-2 oncogene inhibition by geldanamycin derivatives: synthesis, mechanism of action, and structureactivity relationships, J. Med. Chem. 38 (1995) 3813–3820. https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7562912.
- [100] Y. Gan, J.L. Au, J. Lu, M.G. Wientjes, Antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects of geldanamycin, cytochalasin E, suramin and thiacetazone in human prostate xenograft tumor histocultures, Pharm. Res. 15 (1998) 1760–1766. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9834000.
- [101] P. Miller, C. DiOrio, M. Moyer, R.C. Schnur, A. Bruskin, W. Cullen, J.D. Moyer, Depletion of the erbB-2 gene product p185 by benzoquinoid ansamycins, Cancer Res. 54 (1994) 2724–2730. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 7909494.
- [102] E.G. Mimnaugh, C. Chavany, L. Neckers, Polyubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of the p185c-erbB-2 receptor protein-tyrosine kinase induced by geldanamycin, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 22796–22801. https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8798456.
- [103] L. V Sequist, S. Gettinger, N.N. Senzer, R.G. Martins, P.A. Jänne, R. Lilenbaum, J.E. Gray, A.J. lafrate, R. Katayama, N. Hafeez, J. Sweeney, J.R. Walker, C. Fritz, R.W. Ross, D. Grayzel, J.A. Engelman, D.R. Borger, G. Paez, R. Natale, Activity of IPI-504, a novel heat-shock protein 90 inhibitor, in patients with molecularly defined non-small-cell lung cancer, J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (2010) 4953–4960, https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.30.8338.
- [104] A.J. Wagner, R. Chugh, L.S. Rosen, J.A. Morgan, S. George, M. Gordon, J. Dunbar, E. Normant, D. Grayzel, G.D. Demetri, A phase I study of the HSP90 inhibitor retaspimycin hydrochloride (IPI-504) in patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors or soft-tissue sarcomas, Clin. Cancer Res. 19 (2013) 6020–6029, https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0953.
- [105] D.S. Hong, U. Banerji, B. Tavana, G.C. George, J. Aaron, R. Kurzrock, Targeting the molecular chaperone heat shock protein 90 (HSP90): lessons learned and future directions, Cancer Treat Rev. 39 (2013) 375–387, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ctrv.2012.10.001.
- [106] T. Taechowisan, W. Puckdee, W. Waratchareeyakul, W.S. Phutdhawong, Anti-inflammatory activity of geldanamycin and its derivatives in LPSinduced RAW 264.7 cells, Adv. Microbiol. (2019) 398–421, https://doi.org/ 10.4236/aim.2019.94024, 09.
- [107] C. Ma, J. Chen, P. Li, Geldanamycin induces apoptosis and inhibits inflammation in fibroblast-like synoviocytes isolated from rheumatoid arthritis patients, J. Cell. Biochem. 120 (2019) 16254–16263, https://doi.org/10.1002/ jcb.28906.
- [108] N. Piippo, E. Korhonen, M. Hytti, H. Skottman, K. Kinnunen, N. Josifovska, G. Petrovski, K. Kaarniranta, A. Kauppinen, Hsp90 inhibition as a means to inhibit activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 6720, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25123-2.
- [109] C.J. Martin, S. Gaisser, I.R. Challis, I. Carletti, B. Wilkinson, M. Gregory, C. Prodromou, S.M. Roe, L.H. Pearl, S.M. Boyd, M.Q. Zhang, Molecular characterization of macbecin as an Hsp90 inhibitor, J. Med. Chem. 51 (2008) 2853–2857, https://doi.org/10.1021/jm701558c.
- [110] S. Omura, Y. Iwai, Y. Takahashi, N. Sadakane, A. Nakagawa, H. Oiwa, Y. Hasegawa, T. Ikai, Herbimycin, a new antibiotic produced by a strain of Streptomyces, J. Antibiot. 32 (1979) 255–261. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/468713.
- [111] S. Omura, K. Miyano, A. Nakagawa, H. Sano, K. Komiyama, I. Umezawa, K. Shibata, S. Satsumabayashi, Chemical modification and antitumor activity of herbimycin A. 8,9-Epoxide, 7,9-cyclic carbamate, and 17 or 19-amino derivatives, J. Antibiot. 37 (1984) 1264–1267. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/6501098.
- [112] J.M. Kim, D.H. Lee, J.S. Kim, J.Y. Lee, H.-G. Park, Y.-J. Kim, Y.-K. Oh, H.C. Jung, S.I. Kim, 5,7-dihydroxy-3,4,6-trimethoxyflavone inhibits the inflammatory effects induced by Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin via dissociating the complex of heat shock protein 90 and IκBα and IκB kinase-γ in intestinal epithelial cell culture, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 155 (2009) 541–551, https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03849.x.

- [113] P. DELMOTTE, J. DELMOTTE-PLAQUE, A new antifungal substance of fungal origin, Nature 171 (1953) 344. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 13036885.
- [114] S.M. Roe, C. Prodromou, R. O'Brien, J.E. Ladbury, P.W. Piper, L.H. Pearl, Structural basis for inhibition of the Hsp90 molecular chaperone by the antitumor antibiotics radicicol and geldanamycin, J. Med. Chem. 42 (1999) 260–266, https://doi.org/10.1021/jm980403y.
- [115] T. Oikawa, H. Ito, H. Ashino, M. Toi, T. Tominaga, I. Morita, S. Murota, Radicicol, a microbial cell differentiation modulator, inhibits in vivo angiogenesis, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 241 (1993) 221–227. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/7694864.
- [116] T. Oikawa, C. Onozawa, S. Kuranuki, Y. Igarashi, M. Sato, H. Ashino, M. Shimamura, M. Toi, S. Kurakata, Dipalmitoylation of radicicol results in improved efficacy against tumor growth and angiogenesis in vivo, Cancer Sci. 98 (2007) 219–225, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2006.00359.x.
- [117] A. Antonov, C. Snead, B. Gorshkov, G.N. Antonova, A.D. Verin, J.D. Catravas, Heat shock protein 90 inhibitors protect and restore pulmonary endothelial barrier function, Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 39 (2008) 551–559, https:// doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2007-03240C.
- [118] Y.J. Na, Y.J. Jeon, J.-H. Suh, J.S. Kang, K.-H. Yang, H.-M. Kim, Suppression of IL-8 gene expression by radicicol is mediated through the inhibition of ERK1/2 and p38 signaling and negative regulation of NF-κB and AP-1, Int. Immunopharmacol. 1 (2001) 1877–1887, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1567-5769(01) 00113-8.
- [119] Y. Zhao, Z.-J. Huang, M. Rahman, Q. Luo, H. Thorlacius, Radicicol, an Hsp90 inhibitor, inhibits intestinal inflammation and leakage in abdominal sepsis, J. Surg. Res. 182 (2013) 312–318, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JSS.2012.10.038.
- [120] V. Hellwig, A. Mayer-Bartschmid, H. Müller, G. Greif, G. Kleymann, W. Zitzmann, H. V Tichy, M. Stadler, A.-F. Pochonins, New antiviral and antiparasitic resorcylic acid lactones from Pochonia chlamydosporia var. catenulata, J. Nat. Prod. 66 (2003) 829–837, https://doi.org/10.1021/ np020556v.
- [121] E. Moulin, V. Zoete, S. Barluenga, M. Karplus, N. Winssinger, Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of HSP90 inhibitors based on conformational analysis of radicicol and its analogues, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 6999–7004, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja043101w.
- [122] S. Barluenga, C. Wang, J.G. Fontaine, K. Aouadi, K. Beebe, S. Tsutsumi, L. Neckers, N. Winssinger, Divergent synthesis of a pochonin library targeting HSP90 and in vivo efficacy of an identified inhibitor, Angew Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 47 (2008) 4432–4435, https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200800233.
- [123] K. Ishimaru, K. Shimomura, Tannin production in hairy root culture of Geranium thunbergii, Phytochemistry 30 (1991) 825–828, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0031-9422(91)85260-7.
- [124] Y. Ushio, T. Okuda, H. Abe, Effects of geraniin on morphology and function of macrophages, Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 96 (1991) 224–230. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1804795.
- [125] J.C. Lee, C.Y. Tsai, J.Y. Kao, M.C. Kao, S.C. Tsai, C.S. Chang, L.J. Huang, S.C. Kuo, J.K. Lin, T.D. Way, Geraniin-mediated apoptosis by cleavage of focal adhesion kinase through up-regulation of Fas ligand expression in human melanoma cells, Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 52 (2008) 655–663, https://doi.org/10.1002/ mnfr.200700381.
- [126] Z. Ren, W. Zou, J. Cui, L. Liu, Y. Qing, Y. Li, Geraniin suppresses tumor cell growth and triggers apoptosis in human glioma via inhibition of STAT3 signaling, Cytotechnology (2017), https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-017-0085-4.
- [127] Y. Wang, D. Wan, R. Zhou, W. Zhong, S. Lu, Y. Chai, Geraniin inhibits migration and invasion of human osteosarcoma cancer cells through regulation of PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 signaling pathways, Anti Canccer Drugs 28 (2017) 959–966, https://doi.org/10.1097/CAD.000000000000535.
- [128] A. Vassallo, M.C. Vaccaro, N. De Tommasi, F. Dal Piaz, A. Leone, Identification of the plant compound geraniin as a novel Hsp90 inhibitor, PLoS One 8 (2013), e74266, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074266.
- [129] Z. Guangfa, X. Xin, L. Yan, H. Yan, L. Keng, W. Chunting, Geraniin attenuates LPS-induced acute lung injury via inhibiting NF-κB and activating Nrf2 signaling pathways, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 22835–22841, https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.15227.
- [130] P. Wang, Q. Qiao, J. Li, W. Wang, L.-P. Yao, Y.-J. Fu, Inhibitory effects of geraniin on LPS-induced inflammation via regulating NF-κB and Nrf2 pathways in RAW 264.7 cells, Chem. Biol. Interact. 253 (2016) 134–142, https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.CBI.2016.05.014.
- [131] N. Anantachoke, P. Tuchinda, C. Kuhakarn, M. Pohmakotr, V. Reutrakul, Prenylated caged xanthones: chemistry and biology, Pharm. Biol. 50 (2012) 78–91, https://doi.org/10.3109/13880209.2011.636176.
- [132] X.H. Qui, Effect of gamboge acid on the cell cycle of HeLa cells with flow cytometry, Zhongyao Tongbao 11 (1986) 51–53. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/2953497.
- [133] J.H. Jang, J.Y. Kim, E.G. Sung, E.A. Kim, T.J. Lee, Gambogic acid induces apoptosis and sensitizes TRAIL-mediated apoptosis through downregulation of cFLIPL in renal carcinoma Caki cells, Int. J. Oncol. 48 (2016) 376–384, https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2015.3249.
- [134] K. Zhao, S. Zhang, X. Song, Y. Yao, Y. Zhou, Q. You, Q.-L. Guo, Gambogic Acid Suppresses Cancer Invasion and Migration by Inhibiting TGFβ1-Induced Epithelial-To-Mesenchymal Transition, na lu, 2017, https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.15449.
- [135] T. Yi, Z. Yi, S.G. Cho, J. Luo, M.K. Pandey, B.B. Aggarwal, M. Liu, Gambogic acid

inhibits angiogenesis and prostate tumor growth by suppressing vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 signaling, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 1843–1850, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5944.

- [136] X. Wu, L. Long, J. Liu, J. Zhang, T. Wu, X. Chen, B. Zhou, T.Z. Lv, Gambogic acid suppresses inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis rats via PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway, Mol. Med. Rep. (2017), https://doi.org/10.3892/ mmr.2017.7459.
- [137] R. Cascão, B. Vidal, H. Raquel, A. Neves-Costa, N. Figueiredo, V. Gupta, J.E. Fonseca, L.F. Moita, Potent anti-inflammatory and antiproliferative effects of gambogic acid in a rat model of antigen-induced arthritis, Mediat. Inflamm. 2014 (2014) 195327, https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/195327.
- [138] J. Wen, H. Pei, X. Wang, C. Xie, S. Li, L. Huang, N. Qiu, W. Wang, X. Cheng, L. Chen, Gambogic acid exhibits anti-psoriatic efficacy through inhibition of angiogenesis and inflammation, J. Dermatol. Sci. 74 (2014) 242–250, https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.JDERMSCI.2014.03.001.
- [139] J. Davenport, J.R. Manjarrez, L. Peterson, B. Krumm, B.S. Blagg, R.L. Matts, Gambogic acid, a natural product inhibitor of Hsp90, J. Nat. Prod. 74 (2011) 1085–1092, https://doi.org/10.1021/np200029q.
- [140] K.H. Yim, T.L. Prince, S. Qu, F. Bai, P.A. Jennings, J.N. Onuchic, E.A. Theodorakis, L. Neckers, Gambogic acid identifies an isoform-specific druggable pocket in the middle domain of Hsp90β, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113 (2016) E4801–E4809, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1606655113.
- [141] C. Dawid, F. Dunemann, W. Schwab, T. Nothnagel, T. Hofmann, Bioactive C<sub>17</sub>-Polyacetylenes in carrots (Daucus carota L.): current knowledge and future perspectives, J. Agric. Food Chem. 63 (2015) 9211–9222, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b04357.
- [142] J. Sohn, C.H. Lee, D.J. Chung, S.H. Park, I. Kim, W.I. Hwang, Effect of petroleum ether extract of Panax ginseng roots on proliferation and cell cycle progression of human renal cell carcinoma cells, Exp. Mol. Med. 30 (1998) 47–51, https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.1998.7.
- [143] B.T. Metzger, D.M. Barnes, J.D. Reed, Purple carrot (Daucus carota L.) polyacetylenes decrease lipopolysaccharide-induced expression of inflammatory proteins in macrophage and endothelial cells, J. Agric. Food Chem. 56 (2008) 3554–3560, https://doi.org/10.1021/jf073494t.
- [144] Y.C. Kuo, Y.L. Lin, C.P. Huang, J.W. Shu, W.J. Tsai, A tumor cell growth inhibitor from Saposhnikovae divaricata, Canc. Invest. 20 (2002) 955–964. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12449728.
- [145] H.T. Le, H.T. Nguyen, H.Y. Min, S.Y. Hyun, S. Kwon, Y. Lee, T.H. V Le, J. Lee, J.H. Park, H.Y. Lee, Panaxynol, a natural Hsp90 inhibitor, effectively targets both lung cancer stem and non-stem cells, Cancer Lett. 412 (2018) 297–307, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2017.10.013.
- [146] A.L. Stefanson, M. Bakovic, Falcarinol is a potent inducer of heme oxygenase-1 and was more effective than sulforaphane in attenuating intestinal inflammation at diet-achievable doses, Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2018 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3153527.
- [147] C. Qu, B. Li, Y. Lai, H. Li, A. Windust, LJ. Hofseth, M. Nagarkatti, P. Nagarkatti, X.L. Wang, D. Tang, J.S. Janicki, X. Tian, T. Cui, Identifying panaxynol, a natural activator of nuclear factor erythroid-2 related factor 2 (Nrf2) from American ginseng as a suppressor of inflamed macrophage-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, J. Ethnopharmacol. 168 (2015) 326–336, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.JEP.2015.04.004.
- [148] M.B. Isman, Botanical insecticides, deterrents, and repellents in modern agriculture and an increasingly regulated world, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 51 (2006) 45–66, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.51.110104.151146.
- [149] D.N. Louis, A. Perry, G. Reifenberger, A. von Deimling, D. Figarella-Branger, W.K. Cavenee, H. Ohgaki, O.D. Wiestler, P. Kleihues, D.W. Ellison, The 2016 world Health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary, Acta Neuropathol. 131 (2016) 803–820, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1.
- [150] Y. Baba, M. Fujii, T. Maeda, A. Suzuki, S. Yuzawa, Y. Kato, Deguelin induces apoptosis by targeting both EGFR-Akt and IGF1R-Akt pathways in head and neck squamous cell cancer cell lines, BioMed Res. Int. 2015 (2015), https:// doi.org/10.1155/2015/657179.
- [151] L. Chen, K. Jiang, H. Chen, Y. Tang, X. Zhou, Y. Tan, Y. Yuan, Q. Xiao, K. Ding, Deguelin induces apoptosis in colorectal cancer cells by activating the p38 MAPK pathway, Cancer Manag. Res. 11 (2019) 95–105, https://doi.org/ 10.2147/CMAR.S169476.
- [152] Z. Bao, P. Zhang, Y. Yao, G. Lu, Z. Tong, B. Yan, L. Tu, G. Yang, J. Zhou, Deguelin attenuates allergic airway inflammation via inhibition of NF-kb pathway in mice, Int. J. Biol. Sci. 13 (2017) 492–504, https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.17238.
- [153] T. Zhang, K. Zhao, W. Han, W. Yang, X. Lu, Q. Liu, X. Li, Y. Qian, Deguelin inhibits RANKL-induced osteoclastogenesis in vitro and prevents inflammation-mediated bone loss in vivo, J. Cell. Physiol. 234 (2019) 2719–2729, https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.27087.
- [154] R. Kazlauskas, P.T. Murphy, R.J. Quinn, R.J. Wells, Heteronemin, a new scalarin type sesterterpene from the sponge Heteronema Erecta, Tetrahedron Lett. 17 (1976) 2631–2634, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)91753-2
- [155] M.G. Lee, Y.C. Liu, Y.L. Lee, M. El-Shazly, K.H. Lai, S.P. Shih, S.C. Ke, M.C. Hong, Y.C. Du, J.C. Yang, P.J. Sung, Z.H. Wen, M.C. Lu, Heteronemin, a marine sesterterpenoid-type metabolite, induces apoptosis in prostate lncap cells via oxidative and er stress combined with the inhibition of topoisomerase II and Hsp90, Mar. Drugs 16 (2018), https://doi.org/10.3390/md16060204.
- [156] V. Ledroit, C. Debitus, F. Ausseil, R. Raux, J.L. Menou, B.T. Hill, Heteronemin as a protein farnesyl transferase inhibitor, Pharm. Biol. 42 (2004) 454–456,

https://doi.org/10.1080/13880200490886120.

- [157] F.D. Piaz, A. Vassallo, A. Temraz, R. Cotugno, M.A. Belisario, G. Bifulco, M.G. Chini, C. Pisano, N. De Tommasi, A. Braca, A chemical-biological study reveals C9-type iridoids as novel heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) inhibitors, J. Med. Chem. 56 (2013) 1583–1595, https://doi.org/10.1021/jm301398y.
- [158] I. Pastuszak, R.J. Molyneux, L.F. James, A.D. Elbein, Lentiginosine, a dihydroxyindolizidine alkaloid that inhibits amyloglucosidase, Biochemistry 29 (1990) 1886–1891. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2331469.
- [159] F. Dal Piaz, A. Vassallo, M.G. Chini, F.M. Cordero, F. Cardona, C. Pisano, G. Bifulco, N. De Tommasi, A. Brandi, Natural iminosugar (+)-lentiginosine inhibits ATPase and chaperone activity of hsp90, PLoS One 7 (2012), e43316, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043316.
- [160] P. Meyer, C. Prodromou, B. Hu, C. Vaughan, S.M. Roe, B. Panaretou, P.W. Piper, L.H. Pearl, Structural and functional analysis of the middle segment of hsp90: implications for ATP hydrolysis and client protein and cochaperone interactions, Mol. Cell 11 (2003) 647–658. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/12667448.
- [161] W. Chen, X.-D. Yang, J.-F. Zhao, J.-H. Yang, H.-B. Zhang, Z.-Y. Li, L. Li, Three new, 1-oxygenated ent-8,9-secokaurane diterpenes from Croton kongensis, Helv. Chim. Acta 89 (2006) 537–541, https://doi.org/10.1002/ hlca.200690057.
- [162] D. Li, C. Li, L. Li, S. Chen, L. Wang, Q. Li, X. Wang, X. Lei, Z. Shen, Natural product kongensin A is a non-canonical HSP90 inhibitor that blocks RIP3dependent necroptosis, Cell Chem. Biol. 23 (2016) 257–266, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2015.08.018.
- [163] G.N. Belofsky, P.R. Jensen, W. Fenical, Sansalvamide: a new cytotoxic cyclic depsipeptide produced by a marine fungus of the genus Fusarium, Tetrahedron Lett. 40 (1999) 2913–2916, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(99) 00393-7.
- [164] Y. Hwang, D. Rowley, D. Rhodes, J. Gertsch, W. Fenical, F. Bushman, Mechanism of inhibition of a poxvirus topoisomerase by the marine natural product sansalvamide A, Mol. Pharmacol. 55 (1999) 1049–1053. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10347247.
- [165] R.P. Sellers, L.D. Alexander, V.A. Johnson, C.C. Lin, J. Savage, R. Corral, J. Moss, T.S. Slugocki, E.K. Singh, M.R. Davis, S. Ravula, J.E. Spicer, J.L. Oelrich, A. Thornquist, C.M. Pan, S.R. McAlpine, Design and synthesis of Hsp90 inhibitors: exploring the SAR of Sansalvamide A derivatives, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 18 (2010) 6822–6856, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2010.07.042.
- [166] C.L. Carroll, J. V Johnston, A. Kekec, J.D. Brown, E. Parry, J. Cajica, I. Medina, K.M. Cook, R. Corral, P.S. Pan, S.R. McAlpine, Synthesis and cytotoxicity of novel sansalvamide A derivatives, Org. Lett. 7 (2005) 3481–3484, https:// doi.org/10.1021/ol051161g.
- [167] S. Liu, W. Gu, D. Lo, X.Z. Ding, M. Ujiki, T.E. Adrian, G.A. Soff, R.B. Silverman, N-methylsansalvamide a peptide analogues. Potent new antitumor agents, J. Med. Chem. 48 (2005) 3630–3638, https://doi.org/10.1021/jm048952t.
- [168] R.C. Vasko, R.A. Rodriguez, C.N. Cunningham, V.C. Ardi, D.A. Agard, S.R. McAlpine, Mechanistic studies of Sansalvamide A-amide: an allosteric modulator of Hsp90, ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 1 (2010) 4–8, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/ml900003t.
- [169] D.A. Harris, M.A. Reagan, M. Ruger, H. Wallick, H.B. Woodruff, Discovery and antimicrobial properties of cathomycin, a new antibiotic produced by Streptomyces spheroides n. sp, Antibiot. Annu. 3 (1955) 909–917. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/13355385.
- [170] J. Berger, A.J. Schocher, A.D. Batcho, B. Pecherer, O. Keller, J. Maricq, A.E. Karr, B.P. Vaterlaus, A. Furlenmeier, H. Speigelberg, Production, isolation, and synthesis of the coumermycins (sugordomycins), a new streptomycete antibiotic complex, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. (Bethesda) 5 (1965) 778–785. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5883496.
- [171] P. Laurin, D. Ferroud, L. Schio, M. Klich, C. Dupuis-Hamelin, P. Mauvais, P. Lassaigne, A. Bonnefoy, B. Musicki, Structure-activity relationship in two series of aminoalkyl substituted coumarin inhibitors of gyrase B, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 9 (1999) 2875–2880. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/10522710.
- [172] M.G. Marcu, A. Chadli, I. Bouhouche, M. Catelli, L.M. Neckers, The heat shock protein 90 antagonist novobiocin interacts with a previously unrecognized ATP-binding domain in the carboxyl terminus of the chaperone, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 37181–37186, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M003701200.
- [173] B.R. Kusuma, A. Khandelwal, W. Gu, D. Brown, W. Liu, G. Vielhauer, J. Holzbeierlein, B.S. Blagg, Synthesis and biological evaluation of coumarin replacements of novobiocin as Hsp90 inhibitors, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 22 (2014) 1441–1449, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2013.12.056.
- [174] C.B. Collins, D. Strassheim, C.M. Aherne, A.R. Yeckes, P. Jedlicka, E.F. de Zoeten, Targeted inhibition of heat shock protein 90 suppresses tumor necrosis factor-α and ameliorates murine intestinal inflammation, Inflamm. Bowel Dis. 20 (2014) 685–694, https://doi.org/10.1097/ 01.MIB.0000442839.28664.75.
- [175] M.G. Marcu, T.W. Schulte, L. Neckers, Novobiocin and related coumarins and depletion of heat shock protein 90-dependent signaling proteins, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 92 (2000) 242–248. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 10655441.
- [176] R.K. Allan, D. Mok, B.K. Ward, T. Ratajczak, Modulation of chaperone function and cochaperone interaction by novobiocin in the C-terminal domain of Hsp90: evidence that coumarin antibiotics disrupt Hsp90 dimerization, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 7161–7171, https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M512406200.

- [177] R.L. Matts, G.E. Brandt, Y. Lu, A. Dixit, M. Mollapour, S. Wang, A.C. Donnelly, L. Neckers, G. Verkhivker, B.S. Blagg, A systematic protocol for the characterization of Hsp90 modulators, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 19 (2011) 684–692, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2010.10.029.
- [178] J.A. Burlison, C. Avila, G. Vielhauer, D.J. Lubbers, J. Holzbeierlein, B.S. Blagg, Development of novobiocin analogues that manifest anti-proliferative activity against several cancer cell lines, J. Org. Chem. 73 (2008) 2130–2137, https://doi.org/10.1021/jo702191a.
- [179] K.M. Byrd, C. Subramanian, J. Sanchez, H.F. Motiwala, W. Liu, M.S. Cohen, J. Holzbeierlein, B.S. Blagg, Synthesis and biological evaluation of novobiocin core analogues as Hsp90 inhibitors, Chemistry (Easton) 22 (2016) 6921–6931, https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201504955.
- [180] A.J. East, W.D. Ollis, R.E. Wheeler, Natural occurrence of 3-aryl-4hydroxycoumarins. Part I. Phytochemical examination of Derris robusta(roxb.) benth, J. Chem. Soc. C Org. (1969) 365–374, https://doi.org/10.1039/ J39690000365.
- [181] M.K. Hadden, L. Galam, J.E. Gestwicki, R.L. Matts, B.S. Blagg, Derrubone, an inhibitor of the Hsp90 protein folding machinery, J. Nat. Prod. 70 (2007) 2014–2018, https://doi.org/10.1021/np070190s.
- [182] J.M. Hastings, M.K. Hadden, B.S. Blagg, Synthesis and evaluation of derrubone and select analogues, J. Org. Chem. 73 (2008) 369–373, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/jo702366g.
- [183] J.R. Mays, S.A. Hill, J.T. Moyers, B.S. Blagg, The synthesis and evaluation of flavone and isoflavone chimeras of novobiocin and derrubone, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 18 (2010) 249–266, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2009.10.061.
- [184] T. Kada, K. Kaneko, S. Matsuzaki, T. Matsuzaki, Y. Hara, Detection and chemical identification of natural bio-antimutagens. A case of the green tea factor, Mutat. Res. 150 (1985) 127–132. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/3923334.
- [185] Y. Li, T. Zhang, Y. Jiang, H.F. Lee, S.J. Schwartz, D. Sun, (-)-Epigallocatechin-3gallate inhibits Hsp90 function by impairing Hsp90 association with cochaperones in pancreatic cancer cell line Mia Paca-2, Mol. Pharm. 6 (2009) 1152–1159, https://doi.org/10.1021/mp900037p.
- [186] P.P. Wu, S.C. Kuo, W.W. Huang, J.S. Yang, K.C. Lai, H.J. Chen, K.L. Lin, Y.J. Chiu, L.J. Huang, J.G. Chung, (-)-Epigallocatechin gallate induced apoptosis in human adrenal cancer NCI-H295 cells through caspase-dependent and caspase-independent pathway, Anticancer Res. 29 (2009) 1435–1442. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19414399.
- [187] M.A. Moses, E.C. Henry, W.A. Ricke, T.A. Gasiewicz, The heat shock protein 90 inhibitor, (-)-epigallocatechin gallate, has anticancer activity in a novel human prostate cancer progression model, Cancer Prev. Res. 8 (2015) 249–257, https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-14-0224.
- [188] C.M. Palermo, C.A. Westlake, T.A. Gasiewicz, Epigallocatechin gallate inhibits aryl hydrocarbon receptor gene transcription through an indirect mechanism involving binding to a 90 kDa heat shock protein, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 5041–5052, https://doi.org/10.1021/bi047433p.
- [189] A. Khandelwal, J.A. Hall, B.S. Blagg, Synthesis and structure-activity relationships of EGCG analogues, a recently identified Hsp90 inhibitor, J. Org. Chem. 78 (2013) 7859–7884, https://doi.org/10.1021/jo401027r.
- [190] X. Zhong, M. Liu, W. Yao, K. Du, M. He, X. Jin, L. Jiao, G. Ma, B. Wei, M. Wei, Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate attenuates microglial inflammation and neurotoxicity by suppressing the activation of canonical and noncanonical inflammasome via TLR4/NF-kB pathway, Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 0 (n.d.) 1801230.. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201801230.
- [191] E.H. Lee, G. Yang, B.Y. Park, C.H. Kang, Y.-Y. Cho, S.H. Lee, Y.J. Lee, Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate prevents acute gout by suppressing NLRP3 inflammasome activation and mitochondrial DNA synthesis, Mol 24 (2019), https:// doi.org/10.3390/molecules24112138.
- [192] M. Gilabert, A.N. Ramos, M.M. Schiavone, M.E. Arena, A. Bardón, Bioactive sesqui- and diterpenoids from the argentine liverwort porella chilensis, J. Nat. Prod. 74 (2011) 574–579, https://doi.org/10.1021/np100472d.
- [193] R.A. Omole, M.J. Moshi, M. Heydenreich, H.M. Malebo, J.W. Gathirwa, S.A. Ochieng, L.K. Omosa, J.O. Midiwo, Two lignans derivatives and two fusicoccane diterpenoids from the whole plant of Hypoestes verticillaris (LF.) Sol. Ex roem. & schult, Phytochem. Lett. 30 (2019) 194–200, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.phytol.2019.02.019.
- [194] F. Li, W. Sun, J. Guan, Y. Lu, S. Lin, S. Zhang, W. Gao, J. Liu, G. Du, J. Wang, H. Zhu, C. Qi, Z. Hu, Y. Zhang, Anti-inflammatory fusicoccane-type diterpenoids from the phytopathogenic fungus: Alternaria brassicicola, Org. Biomol. Chem. 16 (2018) 8751–8760, https://doi.org/10.1039/c8ob02353k.
- [195] D. Zheng, L. Han, X. Qu, X. Chen, J. Zhong, X. Bi, J. Liu, Y. Jiang, C. Jiang, X. Huang, Cytotoxic fusicoccane-type diterpenoids from Streptomyces violascens isolated from ailuropoda melanoleuca feces, J. Nat. Prod. 80 (2017) 837–844, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jnatprod.6b00676.
- [196] M. D'Ambola, L. Fiengo, M.G. Chini, R. Cotugno, A. Bader, G. Bifulco, A. Braca, N. De Tommasi, F. Dal Piaz, Fusicoccane diterpenes from Hypoestes forsskaolii as heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) modulators, J. Nat. Prod. 82 (2019) 539–549, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jnatprod.8b00924.
- [197] S.S. Kakar, S. Parte, K. Carter, I.G. Joshua, C. Worth, P. Rameshwar, M.Z. Ratajczak, Withaferin A (WFA) inhibits tumor growth and metastasis by targeting ovarian cancer stem cells, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 74494–74505, https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.20170.
- [198] H.C. Wang, Y.L. Tsai, Y.C. Wu, F.R. Chang, M.H. Liu, W.Y. Chen, C.C. Wu, Withanolides-induced breast cancer cell death is correlated with their ability to inhibit heat protein 90, PLoS One 7 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1371/

journal.pone.0037764.

- [199] M. Gu, Y. Yu, G.M.K.B. Gunaherath, A.A.L. Gunatilaka, D. Li, D. Sun, Structureactivity relationship (SAR) of withanolides to inhibit Hsp90 for its activity in pancreatic cancer cells, Investig. New Drugs 32 (2014) 68–74, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10637-013-9987-y.
- [200] M. Kaileh, W. Vanden Berghe, A. Heyerick, J. Horion, J. Piette, C. Libert, D. De Keukeleire, T. Essawi, G. Haegeman, Withaferin A strongly elicits kB kinase β hyperphosphorylation concomitant with potent inhibition of its kinase activity, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 4253–4264, https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M606728200.
- [201] S. Dubey, H. Yoon, M.S. Cohen, P. Nagarkatti, M. Nagarkatti, D. Karan, Withaferin A associated differential regulation of inflammatory cytokines, Front. Immunol. 9 (2018) 195, https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00195.
- [202] K. Min, K. Choi, T.K. Kwon, Withaferin A down-regulates lipopolysaccharideinduced cyclooxygenase-2 expression and PGE2 production through the inhibition of STAT1/3 activation in microglial cells, Int. Immunopharmacol. 11 (2011) 1137–1142, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2011.02.029.
- [203] M.K. Neog, F. Sultana, M. Rasool, Targeting RAW 264.7 macrophages (M1 type) with Withaferin-A decorated mannosylated liposomes induces repolarization via downregulation of NF-κB and controlled elevation of STAT-3, Int. Immunopharmacol. 61 (2018) 64–73, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2018.05.019.
- [204] F. Sultana, M.K. Neog, M. Rasool, Withaferin-A, a steroidal lactone encapsulated mannose decorated liposomes ameliorates rheumatoid arthritis by intriguing the macrophage repolarization in adjuvant-induced arthritic rats, Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 155 (2017) 349–365, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.04.046.
- [205] S. Bale, P. Venkatesh, M. Sunkoju, C. Godugu, An adaptogen: withaferin A ameliorates in vitro and in vivo pulmonary fibrosis by modulating the interplay of fibrotic, matricelluar proteins, and cytokines, Front. Pharmacol. 9 (2018) 248, https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00248.
- [206] X. Yan, G. Huang, Q. Liu, J. Zheng, H. Chen, Q. Huang, J. Chen, H. Huang, Withaferin A protects against spinal cord injury by inhibiting apoptosis and inflammation in mice, Pharm. Biol. 55 (2017) 1171–1176, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/13880209.2017.1288262.
- [207] M. Sikander, B. Bin Hafeez, S. Malik, A. Alsayari, F.T. Halaweish, M.M. Yallapu, S.C. Chauhan, M. Jaggi, Cucurbitacin D exhibits potent anti-cancer activity in cervical cancer, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 1–13, https://doi.org/10.1038/srep36594.
- [208] N. Ding, U. Yamashita, H. Matsuoka, T. Sugiura, J. Tsukada, J. Noguchi, Y. Yoshida, Apoptosis induction through proteasome inhibitory activity of cucurbitacin D in human T-cell leukemia, Cancer 117 (2011) 2735–2746, https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25711.
- [209] C. Jacquot, B. Rousseau, D. Carbonnelle, I. Chinou, M. Malleter, C. Tomasoni, C. Roussakis, Cucurbitacin-D-induced CDK1 mRNA up-regulation causes proliferation arrest of a non-small cell lung carcinoma cell line (NSCLC-N6), Anticancer Res. 34 (2014) 4797–4806.
- [210] J.M. Ku, S.H. Hong, H.I. Kim, Y.S. Lim, S.J. Lee, M. Kim, H.S. Seo, Y.C. Shin, S.-G. Ko, Cucurbitacin D exhibits its anti-cancer effect in human breast cancer cells by inhibiting Stat3 and Akt signaling, Eur. J. Inflamm. 16 (2018), https:// doi.org/10.1177/1721727x17751809, 1721727X1775180.
- [211] M. Sikander, S. Malik, N. Chauhan, P. Khan, S. Kumari, V.K. Kashyap, S. Khan, A. Ganju, F.T. Halaweish, M.M. Yallapu, M. Jaggi, S.C. Chauhan, Cucurbitacin D reprograms glucose metabolic network in prostate cancer, Cancers (Basel) 11 (2019) 1–17, https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11030364.
- [212] J.A. Hall, S. Seedarala, N. Rice, L. Kopel, F. Halaweish, B.S.J. Blagg, Cucurbitacin D is a disruptor of the HSP90 chaperone machinery, J. Nat. Prod. 78 (2015) 873–879, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jnatprod.5b00054.
- [213] A.M. Brinker, J. Ma, P.E. Lipsky, I. Raskin, Medicinal chemistry and pharmacology of genus Tripterygium (Celastraceae), Phytochemistry 68 (2007) 732–766, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.11.029.
- [214] H. Li, Y.Y. Zhang, H.W. Tan, Y.F. Jia, D. Li, Therapeutic effect of tripterine on adjuvant arthritis in rats, J. Ethnopharmacol. 118 (2008) 479–484, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2008.05.028.
- [215] D.Y. Kim, J.W. Park, D. Jeoung, J.Y. Ro, Celastrol suppresses allergen-induced airway inflammation in a mouse allergic asthma model, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 612 (2009) 98–105, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.03.078.
- [216] J.H. Lee, T.H. Koo, H. Yoon, H.S. Jung, H.Z. Jin, K. Lee, Y.S. Hong, J.J. Lee, Inhibition of NF-kappa B activation through targeting I kappa B kinase by celastrol, a quinone methide triterpenoid, Biochem. Pharmacol. 72 (2006) 1311–1321, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2006.08.014.

- [217] F.R. Chang, K. Hayashi, I.H. Chen, C.C. Liaw, K.F. Bastow, Y. Nakanishi, H. Nozaki, G.M. Cragg, Y.C. Wu, K.H. Lee, Antitumor agents. 228. five new agarofurans, Reissantins A-E, and cytotoxic principles from Reissantia buchananii, J. Nat. Prod. 66 (2003) 1416–1420, https://doi.org/10.1021/ np030241v.
- [218] H. Hieronymus, J. Lamb, K.N. Ross, X.P. Peng, C. Clement, A. Rodina, M. Nieto, J. Du, K. Stegmaier, S.M. Raj, K.N. Maloney, J. Clardy, W.C. Hahn, G. Chiosis, T.R. Golub, Gene expression signature-based chemical genomic prediction identifies a novel class of HSP90 pathway modulators, Cancer Cell 10 (2006) 321–330, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.09.005.
- [219] T. Zhang, A. Hamza, X. Cao, B. Wang, S. Yu, C.G. Zhan, D. Sun, A novel Hsp90 inhibitor to disrupt Hsp90/Cdc37 complex against pancreatic cancer cells, Mol. Cancer Ther. 7 (2008) 162–170, https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-07-0484.
- [220] S. Sreeramulu, S.L. Gande, M. Göbel, H. Schwalbe, Molecular mechanism of inhibition of the human protein complex Hsp90-Cdc37, a kinome chaperone-cochaperone, by triterpene celastrol, Angew Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 48 (2009) 5853–5855, https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200900929.
- [221] A. Chadli, S.J. Felts, Q. Wang, W.P. Sullivan, M. V Botuyan, A. Fauq, M. Ramirez-Alvarado, G. Mer, Celastrol inhibits Hsp90 chaperoning of steroid receptors by inducing fibrillization of the Co-chaperone p23, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 4224–4231, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.081018.
- [222] H. Li, Y. Li, D. Liu, H. Sun, J. Liu, miR-224 is critical for celastrol-induced inhibition of migration and invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma cells, Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 32 (2013) 448–458, https://doi.org/10.1159/000354450.
  [223] V.P. da Silva, R.R. Oliveira, M.R. Figueiredo, Isolation of limonoids from seeds
- [223] V.P. da Silva, R.R. Oliveira, M.R. Figueiredo, Isolation of limonoids from seeds of Carapa guianensis Aublet (Meliaceae) by high-speed countercurrent chromatography, Phytochem. Anal. 20 (2009) 77–81, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/pca.1100.
- [224] S. Omar, J. Zhang, S. MacKinnon, D. Leaman, T. Durst, B.J. Philogene, J.T. Arnason, P.E. Sanchez-Vindas, L. Poveda, P.A. Tamez, J.M. Pezzuto, Traditionally-used antimalarials from the Meliaceae, Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 3 (2003) 133–139. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12570769.
- [225] G.E. Brandt, M.D. Schmidt, T.E. Prisinzano, B.S. Blagg, Gedunin, a novel hsp90 inhibitor: semisynthesis of derivatives and preliminary structure-activity relationships, J. Med. Chem. 51 (2008) 6495–6502, https://doi.org/10.1021/ jm8007486.
- [226] C. Penido, K.A. Costa, M.F. Costa, J.F. Pereira, A.C. Siani, M. Henriques, Inhibition of allergen-induced eosinophil recruitment by natural tetranortriterpenoids is mediated by the suppression of IL-5, CCL11/eotaxin and NFkappaB activation, Int. Immunopharmacol. 6 (2006) 109–121, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2005.07.011.
- [227] F.K. Ferraris, R. Rodrigues, V.P. da Silva, R. Figueiredo, C. Penido, M. Henriques, Modulation of T lymphocyte and eosinophil functions in vitro by natural tetranortriterpenoids isolated from Carapa guianensis Aublet, Int. Immunopharmacol. 11 (2011) 1–11, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.intimp.2010.09.010.
- [228] K.K. Kishore T, R. Ganugula, D.R. Gade, G.B. Reddy, S. Nagini, Gedunin abrogates aldose reductase, PI3K/Akt/mToR, and NF-kB signaling pathways to inhibit angiogenesis in a hamster model of oral carcinogenesis, Tumour Biol. 37 (2015) 2083–2093, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-015-4003-0.
- [229] J. Lamb, E.D. Crawford, D. Peck, J.W. Modell, I.C. Blat, M.J. Wrobel, J. Lerner, J.P. Brunet, A. Subramanian, K.N. Ross, M. Reich, H. Hieronymus, G. Wei, S.A. Armstrong, S.J. Haggarty, P.A. Clemons, R. Wei, S.A. Carr, E.S. Lander, T.R. Golub, The Connectivity Map: using gene-expression signatures to connect small molecules, genes, and disease, Science 313 (2006) 1929–1935, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1132939, 80-.
- [230] A.J. Weaver, W.P. Sullivan, S.J. Felts, B.A. Owen, D.O. Toft, Crystal structure and activity of human p23, a heat shock protein 90 co-chaperone, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 23045–23052, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M003410200.
- [231] P. V Borges, K.H. Moret, C.M. Maya-Monteiro, F. Souza-Silva, C.R. Alves, P.R. Batista, E.R. Caffarena, P. Pacheco, M.D. Henriques, C. Penido, Gedunin binds to MD-2 and impairs LPS-induced TLR4 signaling in macrophages, Mol. Pharmacol. (2015), https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.115.098970.
- [232] P. V Borges, K.H. Moret, N.M. Raghavendra, T.E. Maramaldo Costa, A.P. Monteiro, A.B. Carneiro, P. Pacheco, J.R. Temerozo, D.C. Bou-Habib, M. das Graças Henriques, C. Penido, Protective effect of gedunin on TLRmediated inflammation by modulation of inflammasome activation and cytokine production: evidence of a multitarget compound, Pharmacol. Res. 115 (2017) 65–77, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2016.09.015.